EFFECTS OF FEEDING SYSTEMS ON ENVIRONMENTAL NITROGEN

CONTAMINATION BY BORAN AND FRIESIAN CATTLE

BY

DANIEL KORIR KIPYEGON (BVM, UoN)

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for degree of Master of Science in

Livestock Production Systems, University of Nairobi.

DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work that has not been presented for award of a degree in this or any other university.

Daniel Korir Kipyegon (BVM, UoN),

J56/69235/2013.

Signature..... Date.....

This thesis has been submitted to the Board of Postgraduate Studies (BPS) with our approval as academic supervisors

Professor C. K. Gachuiri, BVM, MSc, PhD,

Department of Animal production,

University of Nairobi

Signature..... Date.....

Dr. J.P. Goopy, B.App. Sci, (Hons I) PhD.

Livestock systems and environment, International Livestock Research Institute

Sen. Lecturer (Adj.) University of New England, Armidale, Australia

Signature... Date......8th Mar, 2016.....

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my lovely mum Esther Sitienei, to my little nephews: Caleb and

Dennis, and niece: Joy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First and foremost I give thanks to God for the far He has brought me in my studies.

My sincere appreciation goes to my supervisors Professor Charles Gachuiri and Dr. John Goopy for their professional guidance and the much valuable time they invested to make this work a success. I am so thankful for their mentorship, encouragement, and being there for me for whatever kind of assistance I needed.

Much appreciation goes to the entire Department of Animal Production teaching fraternity, and my classmate- Dr. Thomas for their tireless effort in taking us through the coursework during the first year in my master's program. I also thank my colleagues at Mazingira- ILRI: Jesse and Bety for helping me when conducting the feeding trial.

I wish also to thank Ms. Anne Kimende and Mr. P. Kyalo, technologists at University of Nairobi Animal Nutrition Laboratory for their guidance and assistance during the analysis of urine samples for nitrogen content. ILRI-Addis nutritional laboratory team led by Yonas are also much appreciated for their help in the analysis of feed and faecal samples. Vallerie, who also worked with me during the analysis of urine purine derivatives at Mazingira centre, is much appreciated.

I wish to thank the financial backers of this work, Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS), and the able leadership of Mazingira environmental laboratory, through Klaus and Mariana who provided me with an enabling working environment all through the project period. Finally I would like to say thank you to my fellow graduate fellows at Mazingira: Stephen, Ibrahim, Fred, Patrick, Susan, Bety and Cristina. I would not be where I am today without their love and support. May God bless them abundantly and shower them with His joy always!

DECLARATION	. i
DEDICATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMNS	'ii
LIST OF TABLES	x
LIST OF FIGURES	ii
ABSTRACTx	iii
CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Objectives	3
Broad objective	3
Specific objectives	3
1.3 Hypotheses	3
1.4. Problem statement	4
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	6
2.1 Ruminant GHG emissions	6
2.1.1 Nitrous oxide	7
2.2 Mitigation options for GHG emissions from livestock	0
2.2.1 Methane inhibition	0
2.2.2 Manure management	3
2.3 Feeds and feeding in the tropics	4
2.3.2 Fodder Trees and Shrubs	7

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.3.2.1 Calliandra calothyrsus	18
2.4 Protein metabolism in ruminant animals	21
2.4.1 Requirements for protein in ruminants	21
2.4.2 Nitrogen use efficiency in cattle	24
2.4.3 Use of Purine Derivatives (PDs) in determining microbial protein	26
2.5 Improving protein use efficiency in ruminants	27
2.5.1 Reducing dietary protein level	27
2.5.2 Improving Production Efficiency	28
2.5.3 Other strategies	29
2.6 Effects of protein supplementation on digestibility and feed intake	30
2.6.1 Effects on feed intake	30
2.6.2 Effects on apparent digestibility	31
2.7 Effects of sub maintenance intake on DM digestibility in cattle	31
2.8 Effects of protein supplementation frequency on DMI, digestibility and N balance	33
2.8.1 Effect on DMI and digestibility	33
2.8.2 Effect on N balance	34
CHAPTER 3: MATERIAL AND METHODS	37
3.1 Experimental site	37
3.2 Animals and Experimental Design	37
3.3 Diets, feeding and sampling	38
3.4 Laboratory analyses	39
3.4 Chemical Analysis	40
3.4.1 DM, OM and ash determination	40
3.4.2 Total nitrogen	40

3.4.3 NDF determination	41
3.4.4 Condensed tannin determination	41
3.5 Estimation of apparent digestibility and N balance	
3.6 Purine derivatives determination	
3.6.1 Allantoin analysis	
3.6.2 Uric acid	
3.6.3 Xanthine and hypoxanthine	
3.6.4 Total purine derivatives determination	
3.6.5 Microbial nitrogen flow	45
3.7 Statistical analysis	
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	47
4.1 Chemical composition of diet ingredients	47
4.2 Feed intake	
4.3 Digestibility	50
4.4 Total N intake, excretion and balance	52
4.5 Urinary purine derivatives and microbial protein synthesis	56
4.6 Live weight changes	58
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMENDATIONS	60
CHAPTER 6: REFERENCES	61

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMNS

AAs	Amino acids			
ANOVA	Analysis of variance			
AOAC	Association of Official Analytical Chemist			
AP	Absorbed purines			
BW	Body weight			
CCAFS	Climate Change, Agriculture and food security			
CH ₄	Methane			
CO ₂	Carbon IV oxide			
СР	Crude protein			
d	Day			
DM	Dry matter			
DMD	Dry matter digestibility			
DMI	Dry matter intake			
FAO	Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations			
FHP	Fasting heat production			
g	Gramme			
GIT	Gastrointestinal tract			
GHG	Greenhouse gas			
Gt	Gigatonne			
H_2SO_4	Sulphuric acid			
hr.	Hour			

ID	Identification
ILRI	International Livestock Research Institute
IPCC	Intergovernmental panel on climate change
LSD	Least Significant Difference
LW	Live weight
МСР	Microbial crude protein
MDp	Mean degree of polymerization
mL	Millilitre
Mmol	Millimoles
MNF	Microbial Nitrogen Flow
Ν	Nitrogen
N ₂ O	Nitrous oxide
NO ₃ ⁻	Nitrate
NDF	Neutral detergent fibre
NH ₃	Ammonia
NH ₄	Ammonium
ОМ	Organic matter
PD	Purine derivatives
RAN	Ruminally available nitrogen
RDP	Ruminally degradable protein
SD	Standard deviation
SEM	Standard error mean

VFA	Volatile fatty acids
	5

yr Year

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1: Some of the tested possible interventions to reduce enteric methane production in
ruminants12
Table 2-2: Commonly used agro-industrial and other selected protein sources in livestock, their CP
content, anti-nutritive factors and possible mitigation measures
Table 2-3: Chemical constituents of some common fodder trees and shrub species in the tropics 18
Table 2-4: Effect of oscillating CP supplementation in ruminants on N balance
Table 3-1: Animal groups (A, B and C)* allocation to dietary treatments (CON, Daily and Bi-d)
over the three experimental periods
Table 4-1: Chemical composition of wheat straw and air dried Calliandra calothyrsus leaves (g/kg
DM \pm SD) used as the basal diet and supplement respectively
Table 4-2: Intake as fed, DM, OM and CP daily intakes (g/100 kg LW.d) and DM, OM AND CP
apparent digestibility (g/kg) of in steers fed on chaffed wheat straw hay and supplemented
with air dried Calliandra calothyrsus leaves
Table 4-3: Average DMI (g /100 kg LW.d) of steers fed wheat straw and supplemented with air
dried Calliandra leaves 50
Table 4-4: N intake, faecal N, urinary N, total N excretion (g /100kg LW.d) and N balance (%) of
steers fed on wheat straw hay and supplemented with air dried Calliandra calothyrsus
leaves
Table 4-5: Allantoin, uric acid, xanthine + hypoxanthine, total PD excretion, absorbed purines,
microbial N supply (mmol/100kg.d) and efficiency of microbial N supply in steers fed
chaffed wheat straw hay and supplemented with air dried Calliandra calothyrsus leaves

LIST OF FIGURES

Boran steers fed <i>ad libitum</i> on wheat straw	Figure 1: Faecal and urinary N excretion in I
(Daily) or bi-diurnal (Bi-d) with air dried	alone (CON) and supplemented
	Calliandra calothyrsus leaves

ABSTRACT

Ruminants have long been known to be less efficient in utilizing nitrogen (N) when fed on high protein diets and decreasing these dietary levels supplied has been proposed as one way of significantly improving N economy in cattle. However ruminants in tropical, developing economies are typically fed diets that are generally low in protein especially during the dry season. A study was conducted using two breeds of yearling steers namely Boran and Friesian (n=12; LW: 161.8 ±10.89 kg) in a duplicated 3×3 Latin square to evaluate the effects of protein supplementation and supplementation frequency on DM intake, digestibility, nitrogen retention and microbial nitrogen supply in cattle consuming low protein basal diets. The steers were maintained on *ad libitum* chaffed wheat straw (DM: 877.3 ± 5.2 g/kg CP: 20.0 ± 1.10 g/kg), with supplemental protein supplied as air dried *Calliandra calothyrsus* leaves (DM: 897.3 ± 3.06 g/kg, CP: 257.5 ± 4.04 g/kg on DM basis). The treatments were: basal diet alone, *Calliandra* supplemented every day at 0.2% LW kg and *Calliandra* supplemented every other day at 0.4% LW. Animals were fed once every day at 0930 hr with the supplement provided in separate buckets. Samples of basal diet, supplement, refusals, faecal matter and urine were collected and analyzed.

Supplementation increased DMI of the steers by 16.4 % and 20.0% for daily and alternate day supplementation respectively, but only crude protein apparent digestibility increased with supplementation Microbial nitrogen flow also increased with supplementation (P<0.001) but also daily supplementation had significantly higher (P<0.001) flow than alternate day supplementation (2.24 vs 0.18 g N/100kg.d). Steers lost body weight on all treatments but significantly (P<0.05) less when supplemented. Increased nitrogen retention (P<0.001) was observed with supplementation compared to control (-33.3% vs 15.7%, SEM 0.055). The increased N balance in animals receiving

supplemented diets indicates that N retention improves with increased protein supplementation in animals fed low-protein basal diets, implying that improving protein supply to animals fed submaintenance diets will not only ameriolate production losses in cattle, but also decrease environmental N losses.

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Ruminants have long been established as being less efficient in utilizing high quality sources of nitrogen (N) compared to monogastrics (Leng and Nolan, 1984), making them a major cause of environmental N pollution. Low efficiency is associated with the pre-gastric losses during protein degradation and microbial protein synthesis in the rumen, resulting in low nutrient use efficiencies and increased exogenous nitrogen losses in their manure (Calsamiglia *et al.*, 2010). More than 60% of N ingested by cattle is excreted to the environment mainly through manure (both dung and urine) with this proportion increasing with increasing dietary N. Nitrogen metabolites (including nitrates, nitrites, nitrous oxide (N_2O) and ammonia (NH_3)) are sources of environmental contamination, and represent an important loss of nutrient from production systems.

Cattle, especially under intensive production systems, have been fed on diets with crude protein (CP) levels above 16% which are higher than their metabolic requirements (NRC, 2000) in bid to maximize production. This further increases the amount of N excreted from cattle production, as the amount of N in manure excreted by ruminants is mainly influenced by dietary N intake (Marini *et al.*, 2008). By comparison, cattle in developing countries are generally produced under extensive and semi-intensive systems, and are maintained on low protein basal diets (<5% CP on DM basis) such as crop residues, consequently experience low productivity because of low total DM intake (DMI) and digestibility (Koster *et al.*, 1996). Such animals on a low protein diet have been shown to have improved nitrogen use efficiency; this being attributed to urea salvage mechanism in the gut (Reynolds and Kristensen, 2008b). Adoption of optimal protein feeding strategies in ruminants that would improve DM intake and digestibility while reducing environmental N contamination from

livestock production and its related activities will not only improve animal productivity in the tropics but also reduce environmental degradation from greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions.

Precision feeding, improving the efficiency of capture or recycled nitrogen (N) in microbial protein (MP) synthesis, and improving the efficiency of utilization of absorbed amino acids have also been explored in ruminant nutrition for their potential to reduce N losses to the environment and hence N₂O emissions (Marini *et al.*, 2004, Waghorn, 2008, Wickersham *et al.*, 2008a, Peripolli *et al.*, 2011).

Oscillating dietary protein level in ruminants' diets has been shown to improve DM intake and digestibility, and also enhance nitrogen retention (Beaty *et al.*, 1994, Currier *et al.*, 2004, Farmer *et al.*, 2004, Wickersham *et al.*, 2008a, McGuire *et al.*, 2013). This strategy thus carries the potential to reduce environmental N contamination while maintaining or even improving cattle productivity (Montes *et al.*, 2013).

This study was conducted to evaluate the effects of supplementation and supplementation frequency on nitrogen use efficiency in Friesian and Boran steers fed on a low protein basal diet. Development of feeding strategies that would lead to better utilisation of low quality tropical pastures and crop residues such as cereal straws and stovers by ruminants in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) would improve livestock production in the region as well as reduce associated N₂O and CH₄ emissions. In this study, we hypothesize that supplementation of cereal crop residues; feed resource often used to mediate pasture shortages by small and medium holder farmers in the tropics (Otte and Chilonda, 2002) with leguminous forage- *Calliandra calothyrsus* will improve the low quality basal diet utilization in cattle.

1.2 Objectives

Broad objective

To evaluate the effects of protein supplementation and supplementation frequency on nitrogen use efficiency in Boran and Friesian steers fed low quality basal diet.

Specific objectives

- To determine the effects of daily and bi-diurnal protein supplementation on voluntary DM intake and digestibility in Boran and Friesian steers fed on a low protein diet.
- To estimate the levels of nitrogen retention in Friesian and Boran steers under daily (Daily) and bi-diurnal (Bi-d) protein supplementation.
- 3. To determine the effect of protein supplementation and supplementation frequency on post ruminal microbial Nitrogen flow in Friesian and Boran steers.

1.3 Hypotheses

1. Daily or Bi-d protein supplementation does not have a significant effect on DM intake and DM digestibility in Friesian and Boran steers.

2. Supplementation and supplementation frequency has no significant effect on N retention on Friesian and Boran steers.

3. Microbial nitrogen outflow from the rumen is not affected by protein supplementation or supplementation frequency in Friesian and Boran steers fed a basal diet of cereal straws.

1.4. Problem statement

Cattle and ruminants in general are thought to have evolved to be efficient in assimilating dietary nitrogen when consuming low protein basal diets (Leng and Nolan, 1984). When put on low quality diet, increased recycling of urea back to the rumen and the higher proportion of ammonia (NH₃)-N capture by microbes result in net improved N use efficiency (Reynolds and Kristensen, 2008a). With rate of NH₃ capture and rate of carbohydrate fermentation in the rumen influencing backflow of urea back to the rumen, enhancing these two mechanisms could enhance recycling of urea hence improved N retention and reduced N excretion in ruminants. However, available information on digestibility of tropical pastures and response to protein supplementation in different breeds of cattle kept in the tropics especially during the dry season is limited. These animals during such dry seasons have access to limited amount of feed which is also of low quality (high NDF and low protein) and therefore digestion dynamics is expected to be altered as described in other regions. Additional information therefore gained on enhancing high fibre basal diet utilization and N recycling to the rumen will help animal nutritionists in improving nitrogen use as well as reducing nitrogen excretion from ruminants in the tropics.

Dietary factors are the main determinants of nutrient use efficiency in ruminants (Vercoe *et al.*, 1972) and studies into feeding strategies that will achieve optimal N retention are needed. This will lead to sustainable animal production moving into the future, with the anticipated rise in demand for protein of animal origin. Evaluation of nitrogen use efficiency also among cattle breeds used in different production systems (both *Bos indicus* and *Bos taurus*) in the tropics is equally important. This will better inform breeding programmes and decision making in selecting genotypes that would

be most efficient under the prevailing climatic conditions in the diverse agro-ecological zones in tropics.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Ruminant GHG emissions

Livestock production is one of the major sources of anthropogenic greenhouse emissions, responsible for up to 18 % of the total global emissions when assessed on the basis of a life cycle analysis (LCA) and responsible mainly for CH₄ and N₂O emissions in the agricultural sector (Steinfeld *et al.*, 2006, Gerber *et al.*, 2013). The sector accounts for about 3.3 Gigatonne (Gt) CO₂-equivalents/yr of anthropogenic CH₄ and about 2.8 GtCO₂-equivalents/yr of anthropogenic N₂O, with the total emissions of these two representing about 30% of the agricultural sector GHG emissions (Smith *et al.*, 2007).

Of these emissions, Africa is the third largest source of enteric CH₄ emissions from livestock after Asia (~33%) and Latin America (~23%) with about 14.5% of the global methane emissions from livestock (O'Mara, 2011). These proportions notably correspond with the ruminant numbers in these regions with emissions being mainly linked to cattle populations because of their large numbers and large body size (Herrero *et al.*, 2011). Other species, such and pigs and poultry, also significantly contribute to N₂O emissions through manure deposition (Gerber *et al.*, 2013).

Up to 89% of CH_4 emissions from ruminants are produced in the rumen during fermentative digestion of feed and the remaining portion is produced in the hind gut fermentation and from residual microbial fermentation in faeces excreted (Hook *et al.*, 2010). The methane produced represent energy losses from the feed consumed by ruminants, and this varies between 2-12% of the gross energy intake depending on feed quality, feed intake, feed

composition and processing of feed (Johnson and Johnson, 1995). Higher enteric emissions per unit feed intake are observed in low quality diets with low digestibility (Mc Geough *et al.*, 2010). N₂O losses (discussed below) on the other hand are derived from N in the manure excreted by animals and from fertilizers applied in the crop fields (Oenema *et al.*, 1997).

2.1.1 Nitrous oxide

 N_2O is a highly potent GHG with a global warming potential of about 296 times that of CO_2 (compared to methane; 28), produced mainly from organic fertilizers used in agriculture and from animal manure deposited in grazing fields (Saggar *et al.*, 2004). Some of the N in these two sources is metabolized in a number of steps once excreted to yield N_2O amongst other metabolites, with urea in urine being the main form of N in ruminants' manure that is readily broken down.

Urea (CO(NH₂)₂) is formed in the liver from unutilized rumen ammonia absorbed into the portal circulation. Some of the urea formed is recycled through the saliva back to the rumen for microbial use; the level of recycling depending on dietary protein level and ruminal ammonia concentration (Leng and Nolan, 1984, Leng, 1990). Unrecycled portion is filtered out in the kidneys and excreted to the environment through urine. The excreted urea then undergoes ammonification process releasing ammonium (NH₄⁺) ions (see equation 1) once in contact with faeces or with the soil. The process requires urease enzyme which is readily available in the environment from microbial and plant species present in soil and faeces (Saggar *et al.*, 2004).

 $CO(NH_2)2 + H^+ + 2H_2O \rightarrow HCO_3^- + 2(NH_4^+)$ (1)

Ammonium ions produced in the above process has two fates in the soil. First, in an alkaline environment created by hydroxyl ions also produced in the ammonification process, is dissociated further into gaseous NH₃, and this is lost to the atmosphere causing air pollution and acidification of the environment (Harrison and Webb, 2001). The rate of NH₃ formation is influenced by its concentration in the soil with high concentration, low temperature and low pH inhibiting formation (Oenema *et al.*, 1997). NH₃ concentration in the soil is a factor of rate of volatilization from the soil, with loose soil allowing higher volatilization rates. Up to 46% of urinary N may be lost in this form (ammonia) from the soil with high pH during hot seasons (Saggar *et al.*, 2004). NH₄⁺ that is not converted to ammonia undergoes microbial nitrification and denitrification processes yielding N₂O. Nitrification is an aerobic process which involve oxidation of NH₄⁺ to nitrate (NO₃⁻), with N₂O as a by-product (see equation 2 below).

$$NH_4^+ \longrightarrow NH_2OH \longrightarrow 2[HNO] \longrightarrow NO_2^- + H2O \longrightarrow NO_3^- (2)$$

Equally, nitrate reduction (denitrification), an anaerobic process that reduces NO_3 to N_2 , with N_2O as an obligatory intermediate (eqn. 3) (de Klein and Eckard, 2008) occur; when oxygen tension in the soil is reduced. This process, however, requires nitrification process (NO_3 production) to have taken place even though this actually represent the major process of N_2O production from manure (Saggar *et al.*, 2004).



Most of the N₂O formed in the above process escapes from the soil to the atmosphere.

 N_2O emissions from cattle manure in the tropics and subtropical pastureland occurs on average, within 7 weeks after deposition and is seasonally affected by prevailing climatic factors; mainly temperature and rainfall- influencing soil moisture content (Saggar *et al.*, 2004, Luo *et al.*, 2008, Sordi *et al.*, 2014). The volume of urine voided per event also affects the level of nitrous oxide emitted, with emissions being lower with higher urine volumes (Sordi *et al.*, 2014). This is probably so because more urea is percolated to the deeper soils and less is available for nitrous oxide production in the top soil where conditions are conducive for formation for nitrification process (Sordi *et al.*, 2014).

Emissions are higher in urine than in the dung, and this has been related to the amount and form of nitrogen present in these excretory products (Marini and Van Amburgh, 2005, Sordi *et al.*, 2014). Urine N is largely in the form of urea which is readily broken down in the soil, unlike faecal N which is in organic form and is not readily available for hydrolysis (Sordi *et al.*, 2014). This also explains the delayed and prolonged N₂O and NH₃ emissions from dung with N₂O peak reported at 3-4 days after deposition, compared to urine with peaks reported within 24 hours of urination and up to 90% losses of N within 48 hours of excretion (Saggar *et al.*, 2004).

2.2 Mitigation options for GHG emissions from livestock

In absence of mitigation measures, agricultural GHG emissions are projected to rise from about 5.6 billion tonnes of CO₂ equivalents (in 2005) to about 8.2 billion tonnes by 2030 (Smith *et al.*, 2007), with most of this increase expected to occur in Africa and Asia. Ruminants in these regions are maintained on low quality feed resources resulting in higher methane emissions per unit of animal product produced (Hook *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, strategies geared towards improving utilization of such diets as well as improving animal productivity offer the greatest opportunity in reducing GHG emissions from livestock (Eckard *et al.*, 2010). Further, improved feeding strategies and better handling of manure offer potential avenues also in reducing N₂O emissions; with manure emissions representing an important source of N₂O (Saggar *et al.*, 2004, Gerber *et al.*, 2013).

Several technologies in mitigation of GHG emissions from livestock have been developed over time yielding varying outcomes. It has been suggested that full adoption and of these existing technologies on GHG emissions from livestock as well as enactment of incentives and regulations in the industry could substantially reduce projected emissions by 2050, from about 8.2 Gt. CO₂ equivalents/yr. to about 6.2 Gt/yr. despite projected increase in livestock numbers (Oenema *et al.*, 2007). Some of practical mitigation options in the tropical context, studied over time are discussed briefly below.

2.2.1 Methane inhibition

With up to 87% of methane emissions from ruminants occurring in the rumen during fermentation process, most of the mitigation technologies studied over time have revolved around reducing this source. Some of these options which hold some positive prospects in

reducing methane emissions from ruminants in the tropics are summarized below (Table 2-1).

Improved pasture management practices e.g. grazing pasture at optimal stage when N: energy ratio is close to animal requirements and also when fibre content is still low, have been suggested to reduce N losses compared to when animals are grazed on lush pastures when N is in excess of animal requirements hence reduction in N excreted to the environment (Eckard *et al.*, 2010, Montes *et al.*, 2013). Reduced cell wall content at this stage in pastures reduces CH₄ production during digestion in the rumen (Eckard *et al.*, 2010). Inclusion of tannin rich forage in ruminants' diets have been suggested to reduce CH₄ emissions compared to when animal fed predominantly in grass (McCaughey *et al.*, 1999; Waghorn *et al.*, 2002) by reducing fibre digestion in the rumen, even though this has not always been observed (Van Dorland *et al.*, 2007). This may, however, reduce whole tract digestibility of diet by ruminants because rumen is the main site of fibre digestion with limited activity in the lower digestive tract. Also, CT tend to bind enzymes in the digestive tract reducing their efficacy (Van Dorland *et al.*, 200

Method	Remarks
Dietary lipids ^{1, 2,3}	Reduce emissions by 20-50% but expensive especially to small scale farmers and has the potential reduce in fibre digestibility
Electron receptors- nitrates, fumaric acid, malic acids ^{4,5,6}	Desirable where diet CP is low. Nitrite toxicity and high cost may be prohibitive
Ionophores – monensin and antibiotics ^{7,8,9}	Moderate CH_4 mitigation through feed effiency improvement though the effect is short-lived. Banned in EU.
Plant phytochemicals e.g. tannins and saponins ^{10,11}	Inconsistent results with up to 20% increases recorded and risk of impairing rumen function and animal productivity.
Defaunation ^{12,13}	Variable results with negative impact on digestibility.
Halogenated methane analogues e.g. bromochloromethane and chloroform ^{14,15}	Potent CH ₄ inhibitor but has transitory effectiveness and has gain public biasness.
Vaccination –against methanogen strains e.g. <i>Methanobrevibacter</i> <i>ruminantium</i> ^{16, 17}	Still under development with some positive results observed.
Animal selection for improved feed efficiency ^{18, 19, 20}	Greatest reductions achieved with low digestible diets.
Improving animal productivity ²¹	CH_4 emissions go up slightly, but CH_4 emissions per unit of product decrease.

 Table 2-1: Some of the tested possible interventions to reduce enteric methane

 production in ruminants

^{1.} Dong et al., (1997a); ^{2.} Machmuller and Kreuzer (1999); ^{3.} Dohme et al., (2000); ^{4.} Sar et al., (2004); ^{5.} Nolan et al., (2010); ^{6.} Hushof et al., (2012); ^{7.} Benz and Johnson, (1982); ⁸ Garrett, 1982; ^{9.} Rumpler et al., (1986) ^{10.} Waghorn et al., (2002), ^{11.} Carulla et al., (2005) ^{12.}; Van Nevel and Demeyer, (1996); ^{13.} Bird et al, (2008). ^{14.} Bauchopt, (1967), ¹⁵. McCrabb et al, (1997). ^{16.} Wright et al., (2004); ^{17.} Williams et al., (2009). ^{18.} Okine et al., (2001); ^{19.} Hegarty et al., (2007); ^{20.} Johnson et al., (1996).

In the SSA where most ruminants in the region generally have low productivity and the diets fed are low digestibility mainly due to high fibre in them, methane emissions can be significant reduced by widely promoting animal selection for improved efficiency and

generally improving animal productivity at farm level. Use of anaerobic digesters in Kenya has been promoted but its adoption has been low.

2.2.2 Manure management

Mitigation practises in reducing GHG emissions from manure have mainly been applied in intensive systems where manure is concentrated within a small area unlike in extensive systems where it is spread in the grazing fields (Guarino et al., 2006). Application of these practises in extensive systems which is the case in most tropical countries may not be practical. Some of the interventions which have been used include; use of semi permeable covers to reduce CH₄ emissions from heaped manure (Guarino *et al.*, 2006) and impermeable covers e.g. oil layers or sealed plastic covers. These methods have however, been found to increase N_2O emissions (Hansen *et al.*, 2009) by creating anaerobic conditions suitable for N₂O production. Composting (Amon *et al.*, 2001) and continuous or intermittent aeration of manure equally has been shown to reduce CH₄ emission although these have been reported to increase CO₂ emissions (Loyon et al., 2007, Peterson and Sommer, 2011). Use of anaerobic digesters also, through harvesting of CH_4 from manure and utilizing it as a source of renewable energy in the form of biogas has reduced emissions and has shown potential to reduce GHG emissions associated with livestock production (Clemens et al., 2006). Proper mechanisms however have to be put in place to ensure that the surplus biogas generated is stored rather than being released to the environment.

Conclusion

Livestock and livestock related activities contribute significantly to GHG emission in the agricultural sector. Mitigation measures including improving nutrient utilization by ruminants and manure management can significantly reduce CH_4 and N_2O emissions from livestock production systems without compromising productivity.

2.3 Feeds and feeding in the tropics

Most ruminants under extensive systems in the tropics, are maintained mainly on lowquality feed (<7% CP, <55% digestibility and <100g/kg soluble sugars) for the better part of the production cycle as this is the only feed available (Preston and Leng, 1987). This diet consists of dry tropical C4 grasses and crop residues that are characterized by low protein content, high in cell wall content (>75%), low digestibility and often is insufficient in quantity (Paterson *et al.*, 1998). During the dry season especially, in the arid and semi-arid zones in African tropics, CP is often the first limiting factor in ruminants' productivity because of the low quality diet (Poppi and McLennan, 1995). Due to the low digestibility (and hence longer retention time), such animals have low DMI and therefore cannot meet their maintenance nutrient requirements, resulting in weight loss during the dry season (Allen, 1996).

Offsetting this N deficiency in the diet through protein N supplementation to ruminants consuming low quality diet has been shown to increase digestibility and DMI (Del Curto *et al.*, 1990; Scott and Hibberd, 1990; Bohnert *et al.*, 2002). This improved utilization

offers an opportunity to improve animal productivity and reduce nutrient losses in the manure excreted to the environment. Protein N supplementation provides ruminally available nitrogen that it is broken down in rumen, yielding NH₃ required for microbial metabolism and multiplication therefore enhancing their growth and activity. The increased microbial population hastens fibre fermentation process in the rumen, reducing feed retention time and increasing DMI (Leng, 1990). As a result, VFA and microbial crude protein (MCP) supply to the animal is also improved, enhancing animal performance.

Conventional protein concentrates such as fish meal provide a good source of protein supplement for livestock but their high cost limits their use especially, by small scale farmers in developing countries (Paterson *et al.*, 1998). Alternative protein sources, including agro-industrial by-products from human food processing, and leguminous trees and shrubs provide a cheaper protein sources for animals.

2.3.1 Agro- industrial by products

Agro-industrial by products form an important source of protein for ruminant because of their relatively low cost compared to commercial concentrate (Sindhu *et al.*, 2002). Their use as animal feed, however, is limited by anti-nutritive compounds present in some of these products, negatively affecting their nutritional value. Ruminants however, have the inherent capacity to tolerate some of these compounds at higher concentrations than non- ruminants due to their ability to digest or inactivate them in the rumen (Du Toit *et al.*, 1991) with little or no negative effect in their productivity. Some of the agro- industrial by-products commonly used as protein sources in livestock feeds are presented in (Table 2-2) together with their approximate CP content, anti-nutritive factors and their treatment.

Agro industrial By-products	% CP	Negative factor	Treatment
Cotton seed cake ¹	26-48	Gossypol	Add iron salts
Palm kernel meal ²	20.7	AA imbalance	AA supplementation
Groundnut meal ¹	24.3	Aflatoxin	Treat with NH ₃ or NH ₄ OH
Urea- molasses diet and biuret ³	29.2	Urea toxicity	Include sulphur in the formulation and gradually introduce the animals to them
Fish meal ¹	55-76	Thiaminase in raw fish	Heat
Bone $meal^4$	7	Pathogens, BSE	Heat treatment
Blood meal ¹	Up to 80	Pathogens, BSE	Heat treatment
Poultry manure ⁵	3.4-21.5	Pathogens and low palatability	
Soybean meal ⁶	43.8	Trypsin inhibitor	Moist heating
Brewery by products ⁷	15-30	Aflatoxin	Treat with NH ₃ or NH ₄ OH

 Table 2-2: Commonly used agro-industrial and other selected protein sources in

 livestock, their CP content, anti-nutritive factors and possible mitigation measures

¹Verma, (1997), ² Onwudike, (1986) ³ Toppo et al., (1997), ⁴ Loerch et al., (1983), ⁵, Okanović et al., (2009), ⁶ Carlen and lansfors, (2002), ⁷ Nguyen, (2005). BSE: Bovine spongiform encephalopathy.

Urea which had been widely used as a fertilizer has also been used in animal nutrition to improve crop residue utilisation by ruminants (Sarnklong *et al.*, 2010). Urea can be obtained easily in many developing countries making it a suitable component in this. In addition, urea is considerably cheaper than NaOH or NH₃. Vadiveloo (2003) reported that rice varieties with a low degradability responded better to urea treatments than higher quality straw, increasing the in vitro dry matter degradability from 45 to 55-62%. Urea treatment may therefore be most suitable for small-scale farmers to improve the quality

of overgrown crop residues as it also increase N content in the diet which can be utilized by the microbes in the rumen.

2.3.2 Fodder Trees and Shrubs

Fodder trees and shrubs form an important source of livestock feed especially in small and medium holder systems (Devendra, 1989), providing a cheaper protein source in animals' diet. In the tropics, these feed resources also form an effective insurance against seasonal feed shortages because of their tolerance to dry seasons, attributed to their deep rooting system and longer life spans compared to grasses (Abel *et al.*, 1997).

Fodder trees, majority being perennial plants, are not susceptible to sudden climatic changes and continue to produce high quality fodder even during drought years when grasses and other annual forages are dry degrading their nutritive value (Giller, 2001). Their relatively fast growth rate and sustained productivity in the dry spell, enable them to produce large quantities of biomass, which can be used not only for animal feeding but also as mulch in cropping systems and control soil erosion through their rooting system (Devendra *et al.*, 2001). Leguminous species have been used to improve the productivity of rangelands by increasing the amount of nitrogen available for uptake by associated grasses (Giller, 2001).

Because of the above attributes, fodder trees and shrubs play an important role in sustaining livelihoods for small and medium scale farmers in the tropics, contributing to economic and environmental sustainability (Peters and Lascano, 2003). Their use holds the prospect of improving ruminant productivity in small and medium scale farms in the tropics that cannot viably use commercial concentrates in feeding their animals. Nutritive value of some of the

common fodder trees and shrubs that have been used in the tropics are summarized below

(Table 2-3).

Fodder	Dry matter	Crude	Crude fibre	Metabolizable
trees/shrubs	(% DM)	protein	(% DM)	energy
	× /	(% DM)	· · · ·	(Kcal/kg DM)
Acacia tortilis	29.0	15.1	22.6	8.4
<i>Manihot esculenta</i> Crantz(cassava)	21.1	24.2	15.6	14.4
Calliandra calothyrsus	26.4	24.0	21.7	12.6
Erythrina fusca	32.0	25.8	17.4	14.3
Opuntia Ficus	17.0	14.0	22.4	12.0
Gliricidia sepium	25.0	14.7	19.9	12.8
Leucaena leucocephala	30.0	22.2	19.6	12.1
Pigeon peas (Cajanus cajan)	25.2	22.8	20.1	13.4
Prosopis spps	23.4	14.0	17.8	11.2
Sesbania sesban	18.0	22.6	18.4	13.6
Tamarind indica	28.0	14.0	21.0	14.4

 Table 2-3: Chemical constituents of some common fodder trees and shrub species in the tropics

Source: Devendra, (1992).

2.3.2.1 Calliandra calothyrsus

Calliandra calothyrsus is a leguminous shrub, producing fodder high in CP (20-30% DM), native to South America but has spread worldwide (Paterson *et al.*, 1999). The fodder tree has been widely promoted in the East African region and, consequently, is currently the most

preferred and highly adopted fodder tree among small scale farmers in the sub-Saharan countries (Wambugu *et al.*, 2011).

Calliandra is rich in tannins, mainly deposited in the leaves with concentrations and activity varying widely amongst different provenances (Ahn *et al.*, 1997) and this has been shown to affect the nutritive value of the fodder produced. DMI and protein digestibility are influenced by condensed tannins (CT) and other phenolic compounds present in the leaves (Rakhmani *et al.*, 2005). Moderate concentrations (2-4%) are thought to have nutritional advantages while high (> 5%) is thought to have deleterious effects (Hervás *et al.*, 2003). Nutritional advantages associated with CT reported in ruminants include increased bypass protein, reduce methane produced per feed intake, bloat suppression and anthelmintic effect (Barry and McNabb, 1999, Makkar, 2003, Min *et al.*, 2003). On-farm experiments in Kenya using calliandra fodder (Paterson *et al.*, 1999, Tuwei *et al.*, 2003) have indicated great potential for the tree as a supplement for dairy cattle, with field animal trials showing it as a potential substitute for commercial dairy concentrates. The authors reported increased milk production of up to 0.6 kg for every 3 kg of fresh Calliandra fed as a supplement.

Many small holder farmers in the tropics using *Calliandra Calothyrsus* practice the cut and carry system, where plant leaf material is cut and offered to penned livestock often in mixture with other forages such as crop residues (Tuwei *et al.*, 2003). Varying outcomes have been observed on its nutritive value as animal feed. Palmer and Schlink, (1992), feeding Calliandra as a sole feedstuff to merino wethers, observed a decreased in voluntary DMI of from 59 to 37 g/kg LW^{0.75}.d and also a decline in *in sacco* protein digestibility (P<0.05) when fresh Calliandra was fed compared to wilted.

The decrease in intake could be associated with the observed decline in in-sacco digestibility which could prolong retention time in the rumen (Ahn *et al.*, 1990, Palmer and Schlink, 1992) exerting rumen fill in the animals. Reduction in palatability caused by both astringency (bitter sensation) and tannin interaction with salivary muco-protein with increased tannin concentrations during wilting could also have caused the observed drop in intake when provided to ruminants as a sole diet (McLeod, 1974, Frutos *et al.*, 2004).

For protein, tannin binding to soluble proteins during wilting and chewing in the mouth could have made them unavailable for rumen digestion but released in the abomasum because of the low pH (~3) and in the small intestine; above 8 which is favourable for protein-CT complex dissociation. The apparent digestibility of Calliandra could be higher than that reported for in-sacco (60 and 30%) as this method captures only digestion in the rumen. Experimental findings have shown a decrease in ruminal protein degradability and increased total protein availability for absorption in the lower tract of ruminants (Barry and McNabb, 1999; Min *et al.*, 2003).

When fed as a supplement on the other hand, drying actually appears to increase dry matter intake, increase DM digestibility and improves nitrogen retention in the animal. Ahn *et al.*, (1997) supplementing both dried and fresh (frozen) Calliandra to sheep fed on barley straw *ad libitum*, observed a significant increase in DMI and DM digestibility (DMD) digestibility (from 40 to 60%) when dried (at 60° C) *Calliandra calothyrsus* leaves were fed. The concentrations of CT in the fresh and oven-dried Calliandra used in the experiment were 11.7 and 8.22% respectively, indicating that some CT might have been lost from the forage during drying. Tuwei *et al.*, (2003) though did not observe increased DMI when wilted Calliandra was supplemented to lambs fed on maize stovers, but observed significant live weight gain suggesting improved digestibility with wilting. The destruction of tannins and possibly other toxic factors during drying of Calliandra may explain the significant improvement in the post-ruminal digestibility of protein following drying (Ahn *et al.*, 1997).

Conclusion

Most ruminants in the tropics are maintained on low quality diets (<7% CP) consisting mainly of dry crop residues and tropical grasses. These feed resources are characterized by low digestibility and are nutrient deficient especially, protein to sustain optimal productivity. Use of fodder trees to improve quality of such diets and their utilization by ruminants has been practised widely. *Calliandra calothyrsus* is the most popular fodder tree amongst farmers in East Africa (Paterson *et al.*, 1996) and its use has shown improved animal productivity when used as a supplement. Adverse effects associated with high tannin concentration in the plant have however been reported especially when fed fresh as a sole diet in some instances but measures to ameliorate the situation such as drying are also available.

2.4 Protein metabolism in ruminant animals

2.4.1 Requirements for protein in ruminants

Ruminants maintained on pastures alone meet their metabolic amino acid requirements to a large extent from microbial protein synthesis in the rumen, following breakdown of dietary protein to ammonia (NRC, 2000). The degradable portion of dietary crude protein (RDP) consumed by the animal is broken down in the rumen by microbial enzymatic activity
releasing NH₃. Some of the NH₃ released is used for microbial protein synthesis and the remaining portion is absorbed into the portal circulation from which virtually all that is absorbed is removed by the liver producing urea through the ornithine cycle (Reynolds, 1995). The absorption into the portal circulation is concentration dependent and this increases as dietary N increases (Reynolds and Kristen, 2008b).

Some of the urea produced by the liver is recycled back to the gut through either direct transfer from blood across the epithelial tissue or via saliva while the remainder is excreted in urine (Marini *et al.*, 2008). Once in the rumen, the urea is degraded to NH₃ through the action of microbial urease, and this NH₃ can be recycled for microbial protein synthesis or absorbed back to portal circulation (Leng and Nolan, 1984). This recycling of N via NH₃ and urea transfers provides a source of N for microbial protein synthesis when N from the diet is insufficient especially in ruminants subsisting on crop residues and standing hay (Reynolds and Kristensen, 2008b).

Microbial protein source alone even when ruminal conditions are optimal however, may not supply adequate amounts of amino acids to meet metabolic and production requirements in growing and lactating animals (Clark *et al.*, 1992). Additional true protein source reaching the abomasum, in the form of bypass protein has to be supplied in the diet of these animals, so as to achieve desired levels of production (NRC, 2000). Mature, non-lactating animals on the other hand, can rely wholly for their amino acid requirements from microbial supply for maintenance (Clark *et al.*, 1992).

Several factors affect individual animal dietary CP requirements. Variations in body weight gain composition which is of a factor of breed, age and sex classes affect protein requirements in growing and finishing animals (Leng and Nolan, 1984, Paulino *et al.*, 2009). Non-castrated males tend to deposit more lean tissue in their body than castrated or female animals of the same age, therefore have higher dietary protein requirements (Paulino *et al.*, 2009).

When ruminants are maintained on low CP diet (below 7%) that cannot supply ammonia in concentrations required in the rumen for optimal microbial activity, animals tend to mobilize their tissue protein into circulation and transported to the liver in form of AA where they are broken down to urea then released in to portal circulation (Leng and Nolan, 1984). This is then absorbed across the ruminal wall or secreted in the saliva and swallowed to the rumen where it is broken down to NH_3 which can then be utilized by microbes for their metabolism (Wickersham *et al.*, 2004a). If this low dietary CP level persists for an extended period of time, animals lose weight (due to adipose and muscle tissues catabolism) and eventually succumb when they can no longer mobilize any more tissues (Grimaud *et al.*, 1999).

Cattle in most of the tropical countries are maintained on dry pastures and crop residues, especially during the dry season, that are generally low in protein content (<5% CP) and high in cell wall content (Lukuyu *et al.*, 2009, Cecchi *et al.*, 2010). This CP level is generally too low to induce optimal microbial activity in the rumen. Consequently, animals experience sub maintenance DM intake and animals mobilize their body tissues to meet their metabolic requirements (Grimaud *et al.*, 1999, Mathis *et al.*, 1999). This results in weight loss during the dry season and growing animals only experience weight gain during the wet part of the

year when the pastures are adequate and still nutritious enough (Steinfeld *et al.*, 2006, Kosgey *et al.*, 2008).

2.4.2 Nitrogen use efficiency in cattle

Ruminants generally have been known to have low N use efficiency with an average factor of about 0.25 (expressed as g N in product/g N intake) (Kohn *et al.*, 2005). Efficiency factors ranging between 0.15-0.4 have however been observed among different feeds and feeding practices (Calsamiglia *et al.*, 2010) indicating that feeds and feeding practises have a major influence on N use efficiency in ruminants. Lowest N efficiencies in this range have been observed in grazing beef animals with highest efficiencies reported in lactating dairy cows because dietary N is more efficiently used in the body in the synthesis of milk protein than muscle tissues (Mathis *et al.*, 1999, Metcalf *et al.*, 2008).

These ineffiencies in ruminants have mainly been attributed to NH₃ losses from the rumen into portal circulation during microbial synthesis with up to 60% of dietary N lost through this route (Reynolds and Kristensen, 2008b) with higher losses as dietary N increases and also with non-protein N sources such as urea. Other losses occur in form of microbial nucleic acid N which is not available for host animal use; this accounting for 15-20% of the total microbial N (Chen *et al.*, 1990). Other source of inefficiencies has been described post ruminally resulting from energy and amino acids imbalances in the tissues, with the excess amino acids deaminated in the liver and excreted in urine (Hof *et al.*, 1994).

It has been postulated that cattle have evolved to be efficient in utilizing nitrogen when maintained on a low quality diet (Calsamiglia *et al.*, 2010); with this being associated with

improved urea recycling to the rumen and ammonia capture when ruminants in general are fed on a low protein diet. Animal experiments carried out support this hypothesis where cattle consuming low quality diet have lower N losses as a proportion of N intake compared to losses in animals fed higher dietary protein concentrations (Bunting *et al.*, 1989, Scott and Hibberd, 1990, Lintzenich *et al.*, 1995, Koster *et al.*, 1996, Marini *et al.*, 2004, Atkinson *et al.*, 2007).

Wickersham *et al.*, (2008b) evaluating the effect of Rumen Degradable Proteins (RDP) in urea kinetics in steers fed low quality prairie grass (4.9% CP) observed that 32.3% of microbial N flowing to the abomasum was derived from recycled urea (into the rumen) in the unsupplemented group of animals. This N proportion however, declined to 24.8% when 177g/d of RDP was added in the diet. Similarly, Bailey (2010) feeding hay (5.2% CP) and supplementing with casein (95.3% CP) to Angus steers also observed a decrease in the proportions of N recycled back to the rumen from 20.5 to 17% when the casein supplement was increased from 120 to 240 g/d. The above observations therefore suggest that the proportion of recycled N captured in the rumen decreases as dietary protein was increased, and this could be as a result of reduced recycling capacity of urea back to the rumen as dietary CP is increased.

This hypothesis is supported by Wickersham *et al.*, (2008b) who observed that as the level of supplemented RDP was increased from zero to 177 g/kg, the proportion of recycled N captured for anabolic use reduced from 70.1 to 46.3%. This then indicates that, as dietary protein level is increased, the amount of recycled urea captured decreases and N losses increases. It has been observed that increasing dietary protein level increases NH₃

concentrations in the rumen (Meijer *et al.*, 1990) and this could inhibit reabsorption of urea from the portal blood. This then increases the amount of urea filtered out in the kidneys and excreted in urine hence reduction in N use efficiency (Huntington *et al.*, 1996).

2.4.3 Use of Purine Derivatives (PDs) in determining microbial protein

As with other products of microbial digestion in ruminants, purine derivatives (PD); endproducts of microbial nucleic acid digestion (including hypoxanthine, xanthine, uric acid and allantoin), are absorbed into circulation in the small intestine. These are then transported in blood to the liver where they are filtered and excreted from the body, mainly through urine (Chen and Gomes, 1995). Estimation of the total PDs excreted through urine has been used to quantify microbial protein contribution to the host animal. With the knowledge of the ratio of purine N: total N in a mixed population of microbes, this has been calculated with the assumption that all the plant nucleic material are destroyed during fermentative digestion in the rumen (Chen *et al.*, 1990). A mean digestibility of 0.85 in a mixed population of rumen microbes has been generally agreed and is used widely in literature in estimating microbial contribution to true protein reaching the abomasum in ruminants (Chen and Gomes 1995). Total microbial N absorbed is estimated based on the calculated absorbed purine (AP) N, where the proportion of purine N to the total microbial N is estimated at 0.116 (Chen and Gomes, 1995) in a mixed ruminal microbial population.

Species differences exist among domestic ruminants on the concentration of each purine derivative component found in urine. Unlike sheep, cattle have high xanthine oxidase activity in the intestinal mucosa converting nearly all absorbed purines to uric acid therefore making them unavailable for utilization by the host animal in synthesis of nucleic acid (Chen and Gomes, 1995). Cattle cannot therefore recycle some of the endogenous and exogenous purine in their nucleic acid synthesis in the liver; a capacity which sheep have. This also explains why only uric acid and allantoin would be recovered from cattle urine while sheep will have all the four metabolites.

An estimate of microbial protein contribution in the intestinal protein flow especially on animals fed on low protein diet gives a better measure of its nutritive value as this forms the major source of protein to ruminants fed on such diets (NRC, 2000).

2.5 Improving protein use efficiency in ruminants

Improving ruminants' protein retention can significantly reduce N excretion in the manure (Rotz, 2004). With the ruminants' N use efficiency being directly related to dietary N level, total OM intake and animals' metabolic protein requirements, feed and feeding systems manipulation can significantly improve efficiencies in ruminants (Bunting *et al.*, 1989, Mathis *et al.*, 1999). Two strategies discussed below have the potential to improve N use efficiency in ruminants.

2.5.1 Reducing dietary protein level

The goal in feeding ruminants is to supply the right amount of protein with the proper balance of degradation rates in the rumen so as to provide the appropriate amino acids reaching the lower digestive tract. Most forage and concentrate protein is highly degradable, so problem of meeting the RDP requirement is minimal (Rotz, 2004). Excess protein then is normally fed to meet the minimum RUP requirement, but this leads to the excretion of considerable excess N. Protein requirements in cattle, particularly in lactating cows, can optimally be met by reducing the proportion of RDP in the diet while increasing RUP (NRC, 2000).

Reynal and Broderick (2005) reduced dietary RDP from 13.2 to 10.6% fed to lactating cows and observed reduced N excretion with no effect on DMI and milk yield. This was probably because of reduction in concentration of ammonia produced in the rumen. In an earlier simulation study, Rotz, (1999b) demonstrated the potential of a whole-farm benefit of improved protein feeding. Compared to using soybean meal as the sole protein source, the use of a feed mix with lower RDP reduced N excretion by 39 kg/cow per year indicating possible improvement in nitrogen use efficiency in cattle by manipulating protein feeding.

2.5.2 Improving Production Efficiency

Steps taken to improve the productivity (growth rate or milk production) of ruminants normally improve feed efficiency (Herd and Arthur, 2009). This has been achieved through genetic selection over time for lower residual feed intake in beef cattle (Herd *et al.*, 2004). Consequently, growing animals reach market weights faster, hence more products are obtained per unit of feed spend on maintenance. Although improved production often requires increased feed intake, the net result is lower N intake and excretion per unit of animal product produced (Arthur and Herd, 2008). A simulation that increased milk production by 25% was found to reduce N excretion per unit of milk by 8% (St-Pierre and Thraen, 1999). Reductions in N excretion achieved through improved production efficiency however are generally small, and therefore should be applied hand in hand with other methods so as to achieve significant reduction (Rotz, 2004).

2.5.3 Other strategies

Feed processing (commonly through grinding and pelleting) can equally influence feed intake, digestibility, and the excretion of N (Sarnklong *et al.*, 2010). Grinding to obtain the proper particle size is particularly important in maximizing feed efficiency in livestock by enhancing its digestibility in the rumen, with this shown to reduce DM and N excretion in the faeces by up to 22%. Chemical methods e.g. urea and ammonia treatment has been used in crop residues to enhance fibre digestibility with these also yielding positive results (Vu *et al.*, 1999).

Other options that have been shown to improve N use efficiencies in cattle include hormones and various feed additives. Hormones e.g. Bovine somatotropin increased milk production per unit time and thus milking frequency because of increased dietary protein diverted to mammary glands, with increased total milk yield per lactation in well-fed dairy cows (Bauman, 1999). Other forms of steroids including oestrogen and progesterone treatment have been used to enhance growth rate, nitrogen retention and feed conversion efficiency during the 5-6 week period before slaughter in beef cattle (Van der Wal, 1976). This is thought to increase physiological requirements for amino acids for milk production in the mammary glands, therefore increasing partitioning of amino acids to the mammary glands where it is more efficiently utilized.

Conclusion

Dietary protein requirements in cattle vary with the physiological state of the animal which dictates metabolic and production requirements. Their efficiency in using protein however is generally low mainly because of the losses in the rumen in form of ammonia. N use efficiency tend to improve when dietary level is low, with this associated with improved recycling of urea to the rumen and net increase in NH₃ capture by microbes.

Improved protein use efficiency will therefore reduce N losses from ruminant production as a larger proportion of what is consumed in the diet is captured in the body for production purposes. This then will not only result in reduced environmental N contamination by livestock but also improve ruminants, productivity.

2.6 Effects of protein supplementation on digestibility and feed intake

Cattle consuming low quality forage usually do not obtain adequate RDP in their basal diet to stimulate optimal passage rate, DM intake, and digestion (Hannah *et al.*, 1991). Rumen degradable nitrogen source in ruminants is required for the supply ruminal NH₃-N for microbial growth and multiplication (Satter and Slyter, 1974), therefore enhancing fibre degradation as well as increase the flow of microbial protein to the duodenum. At low dietary levels of protein, microbial activity in the rumen may therefore be diminished because of insufficient supply of NH₃ for microbial growth. Hence, protein or non-protein nitrogen (NPN) supplementation can offset this NH₃ deficiency in the rumen and improve microbial metabolism and fibre digestion (Poppi and McLennan, 1995).

2.6.1 Effects on feed intake

Many animal experiments that have been conducted using several temperate and tropical grasses have shown that DMI increase quadratically as CP provided in the diet is increased (Koster *et al.*, 1996; Mathis *et al.*, 1999, 2000; Wickersham *et al.*, 2008b; Lazzarini *et al.*, 2010). Wickersham *et al.*, (2008b) feeding low quality praire hay (4.9% CP) to steers observed a 29.1% increase in DMI when 59 mg/kg RDP was dosed

ruminally while Lazzarini *et al.*, (2010) observed a 15.2% increase when dietary CP of steers fed on *Brachiaria decumbens* (5.08% CP) was increased to 8.08%. The highest response in intake normally is observed with the first level of supplementation then declines or plateaus with further increase.

The plateauing or slight decrease indicates that the quadratic effect of protein supplementation on intake in ruminants is observed up to an optimal level, beyond which the stimulatory effect on intake starts to decline (Del Curto *et al.*, 1990, Mathis *et al.*, 2000). This restriction to further increase could be explained by animal consuming their optimal intake at this level and therefore ruminal fill and rate of ingesta fermentation and passage from the rumen become limiting factors (Koster *et al.*, 1996).

2.6.2 Effects on apparent digestibility

Protein supplementation also increase total tract apparent digestibility in cattle consuming low protein diets (Koster *et al.*, 1996, Mathis *et al.*, 1999, Archibeque *et al.*, 2007b). OM digestibility has been observed to increase quadratically as CP supplement level was increased; as earlier described for intake. In some studies however, significant increase was only observed with the first supplementation level (above the controls) with no further increase on digestion as level CP supplement was increased (Koster *et al.*, 1996, Mathis *et al.*, 1999). This then suggest that protein supplementation levels required to stimulate optimal digestion is lower than the amount required in achieving optimal intake in cattle.

2.7 Effects of sub maintenance intake on DM digestibility in cattle

Above maintenance, as intake is decreased, DM and OM digestibility increases (Galyean and Owens, 1991). This relationship between digestibility and intake is a consequence of

modifications of the extent in ruminal digestion (Michalet-Doreau *et al.*, 1997). A decrease in feed intake results in a more efficient mastication, by a longer time spent eating and ruminating per kg feed ingested (Aitchison *et al.*, 1986).

As a consequence, ruminal particle size decreases and this increase the surface of attack by microbes resulting in increased fibre digestibility. Studies carried out in ruminants with intake restricted below maintenance however have shown either no variation in digestibility with intake (Grimaud 1995, Atti *et al.*, 2002, Singh *et al.*, 2008) or a decrease in cattle (Grimaud *et al.*, 1998). No modifications of turnover rates of particles in the fore stomachs were observed or any significant change in microbial activity in the rumen in the above mentioned studies. At very low intake the proportion of endogenous materials in faeces has been shown to increase, especially with low-quality forages which could have an abrasive effect on gut mucosa (Doreau *et al.*, 2003). This increases OM in faeces, decreasing in OM digestibility but not fibre digestibility.

Unlike cattle fed above maintenance where decreased intake show increase in digestibility, when fed below maintenance decreased DM intake has been shown not to have an effect on DM digestibility despite observed increase in particle retention time (Grimaud *et al.*, 1998, 1999). Similar observation has also been reported in studies with sheep (Atti *et al.*, 2002). It is then possible that, in contrast to results obtained above maintenance, particle retention time in the rumen is not involved in modifications of digestive efficiency when ruminants' intake is below maintenance. It is likely that an increase in ruminal particle retention time does improve DM digestibility probably because at maintenance this retention time is already long enough to optimize microbial cellulolytic activity. Other ruminal and dietary

factors under these conditions other than microbial-fibre contact time are affecting digestibility (Atti *et al.*, 2002).

Knowledge on the origin of a disturbance in fibre digestive processes in underfed animals is lacking but disturbance in microbial activity is postulated to cause this limitation (Grimaud *et al.*, 1999). Nutritional factors and changes in microbial environment should be considered in further experiments to determine how bacterial activity may be altered by a change in intake.

2.8 Effects of protein supplementation frequency on DMI, digestibility and N balance

2.8.1 Effect on DMI and digestibility

Oscillating dietary protein supplementation in cattle has been shown to equally increase both intake and digestibility as continuous protein supplementation (Beaty *et al.*, 1994, Farmer *et al.*, 2001, Farmer *et al.*, 2004, Wickersham *et al.*, 2008a). Farmer *et al.*, (2001) suggested that infrequent protein supplementation, with as low as 2 times in a week, do not significantly (P>0.05) affected forage DM intake or digestibility, provided the animals consumed the same level of protein per unit time.

Farmer *et al.*, (2004a), supplementing urea at two levels (0.41% LW daily and 0.83% BW on alternate days) to steers fed on prairie hay (5.6% CP) did not observe significant difference on either OM intake, feed utilization or on animal's performance between daily or on alternate day supplementation. Wickersham *et al.*, (2008b) equally feeding cattle prairie grass (4.7% CP) and supplementing with casein daily and every third day so as to provide low (61 g RDP/d) and high (183 g DIP/d) observed no effect of frequency on voluntary

DMI. The above observations supports the hypothesis that protein supplementation frequency in ruminants can be reduced without affecting their productivity (Farmer *et al.*, 2001).

2.8.2 Effect on N balance

Animal experiments conducted in both sheep and cattle have indicated higher nitrogen retention with infrequent high CP levels in the diet, compared to continuous supplementation as presented in Table 2-4.

Author	Species used	Protein* levels oscillated	N balance with oscillated CP g/d	N balance with continuous CP supplementation	P value
Cole, (1999)	Sheep	10 and 15% CP	1.82	0.94	<0.01
Cole <i>et al.</i> , (2003)	Sheep	10 and 14 % CP	156.2	139.5	< 0.05
Archibeque <i>et al.</i> , (2007b)	Cattle	9.1 and 13.9% CP	55.0	34.8 and 40.2	<0.05
Wickersham et al., (2008)	Cattle	61 mg of N/kg/d and 183mg/3d	26.7%	25.9%	0.23

 Table 2-4: Effect of oscillating CP supplementation in ruminants on N balance

* CP levels indicated were alternated in the diet fed to the animals on 48 hr periods.

Several hypotheses have been postulated to explain the increase in N retention with dietary CP oscillation. Increased N recycling to the rumen, improved quality of protein entering the small intestine, increased metabolic use of absorbed AA or by combination of these factors and others (Cole, 1999, Marini and Van Amburgh, 2003, Calsamiglia *et al.*, 2010).

Cole (1999) suggested that the increased urea reabsorption to the rumen when high protein diet is fed infrequently was responsible for the increased N retention. He argues that, CP oscillation created a low NH_3 concentration in the rumen after the first 24 hours of feeding and this increased N reabsorption inform of urea back to the rumen from portal circulation. This is then broken down to ammonia which ruminal microbes can capture for their metabolism. A reduced urea loss in urine was as a result to the reduced urea filtration by the kidneys due preferential absorption in the kidneys, favoured by low ruminal ammonia concentration. This hypothesis is supported by Egan *et al.*, (1986) earlier observations in sheep, where urea reabsorption to the rumen from portal circulation was negatively related to the ammonia concentration in the ruminal content.

Conclusion

Low quality basal diet digestibility and utilization in ruminants can be enhanced by protein supplementation. Further, oscillation of dietary high CP concentration in ruminants could increase nitrogen retention and hence reduce N excretion to the environment. Archibeque *et al.*, (2007b) concluded that, though there is a slight increase in nitrogen retention, the reduction in manure N content is large enough to reduce overall NH_3 and NO_3^- content in manure - these being precursors for N₂O production. However, more experimental studies still need to be carried out to study this phenomenon using tropical feed resources. Most of the studies so far use CP levels above 10%, which does not represent the situation in most parts of the tropical Africa, where ruminants for the better part of the year have access only to dry pastures with little or no supplementation (< 5%). The objective of the current study therefore is to determine the effects of protein

supplementation; either daily or on alternate day on DMI, N retention, and microbial protein supply in Friesian and Boran steers fed on a basal diet of wheat straw.

CHAPTER 3: MATERIAL AND METHODS

3.1 Experimental site

The experiment was carried out at ILRI campus, Nairobi, Kenya. Experimental protocol was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) (no. IACUC-RC2014-05) and animals cared for in accordance with acceptable code of practice for animals in research (Institute of Laboratory Animal Resources (US), 1985).

3.2 Animals and Experimental Design

Friesian (n=6; LW 178.5 \pm 24.4 kg) and Boran (n=6; LW 128.4 \pm 12.5 kg) yearling steers housed in individual pens (0.7 m×1.4 m) in an enclosed animal unit, with continuous lighting and clean water supplied *ad libitum*, were used in this study. The animals were treated with an anthelmintic and acaricide wash for internal and external parasites control respectively, and ear tagged as part of the standard induction procedure one week before the commencement of the trial.

The experimental design used was a 3×3 Latin square in duplicate, with three feeding regimes (CON, Daily & Bi-d), three periods (Per) and two breeds (Br). Steers were stratified by LW and randomly allocated to three treatment groups; balanced for breed. The groups were maintained throughout the experimental period and were randomly allocated to one of the three experimental diets in the first period. The groups were then rotated in subsequent periods such that by the end of the experimental period the three animal groups had gone through all the dietary treatments. Details of the dietary treatments and period rotations are shown in Table 3-1 below.

	Diet	ary treatments	
	CON	Daily	Bi-d
Period 1	А	В	С
Period 2	С	А	В
Period 2	В	С	А

Table 3-1: Animal groups (A, B and C)* allocation to dietary treatments (CON, Daily and Bi-d) over the three experimental periods

*A, B, C- Animal groups each with 2 Friesian and 2 Boran steers.

3.3 Diets, feeding and sampling

Experimental diets were as follows: Treatment 1 (CON): chaffed wheat straw hay (DM: 92% CP: 20.0 g/kg CP) provided ad *libitum*, Treatment 2 (Daily): CON plus 20 g/kg LW of air dried *Calliandra calothyrsus* leaves (DM: 897.3± 3.06 g/kg, CP: 257.5± 4.04 g/kg on DM basis) supplied daily and Treatment 3 (Bi-d): CON plus air dried *Calliandra calothyrsus* leaves supplied every other day at 40 g/kg LW.

Animals were weighed using a digital weigh scale (Gallagher Weigh Scale W210, Australia) at trial commencement and every 7d thereafter. The basal diet was offered at 120% of the previous 7d intake and the amount of Calliandra fed was calculated on previous week's LW. Animals were fed once daily at 0930 hr after the removal and weighing of refusals. Chaffed wheat straw was supplied in feeding trough, and the supplement provided in a separate bucket. Treatment periods were 21d with an adaption period of 14d prior to each measurement period. During the last seven days of each period, total urine and faecal collection was undertaken.

After weighing, the refusals were bulked by treatment, mixed by hand and a sub-sample of about 200 g taken and stored in zipped polythene bags at -20° C. Samples of the basal diet and *Calliandra calothyrsus* fed were also taken daily and stored as described for the refusals. At the

end of each period, the daily basal diet, refusals and *Calliandra calothyrsus* samples taken were again bulked by treatment, homogenized and sub-sampled for subsequent processing and analysis.

Total faecal excretion was determined by scooping all the faeces from the floor of the pen of each animal separately at 24 hr interval over 7d periods. Total collection from each animal was then weighed, homogenated and a sub-sample of approximately 500 g (actual weight recorded) transferred into weighed aluminium tin foils then dried in the forced-air oven (Genlab Oven, Genlab ltd. UK.) at 50°C until a constant weight was obtained for at least two consecutive days. Dried samples were cooled in desiccators, final weight taken, covered with aluminium lids then packed in zipped polythene bags and stored at room temperature waiting further processing and analysis.

Total urine voided over 24-hr periods was also collected using external catheters, attached to the animals using adhesive straps and channelled to a 5-Litre barrel containing 200 mL of 10% HCl with rubber tubing, over a 6d period. Sample of the total urine collected was then taken after total volume was determined volumetrically and diluted to 100 mL with distilled water. Forty (40) ml of the diluted portion was then dispensed in labelled plastic sample bottles and frozen at -20°C awaiting analysis.

3.4 Laboratory analyses

Dried faecal, diet and refusals were ground through 1-mm sieve using a hammer mill (MF10 basic, IKA, Germany).

3.4 Chemical Analysis

3.4.1 DM, OM and ash determination

DM was then determined by drying 2 g of samples in a forced air oven (Genlab Oven, Genlab Ltd, UK.) at 105°C for 24 hr (Association of Official Analytical Chemists- (AOAC), 1990). Ash was determined by combustion of 2 g of the samples in a muffle furnace (Isotemp. Programmable Muffle Furnace 240, Cole-Parmer Instrument Co., US.) at 550°C for 8 hr and the OM, obtained by subtracting ash weight from DM content.

3.4.2 Total nitrogen

The total N content in feed, faecal and urine samples was determined by micro Kjeldhal procedure (AOAC, 1990) as follows. Approximately 0.3 g of dried samples (the actual weight taken recorded) or 1ml of urine was weighed into digestion tubes in duplicate. Selenium catalyst tablets were then added to each digestion tube and 5 mL of concentrated sulphuric acid was added. Each batch was prepared with two blanks containing only the catalyst and the acid, and two control tubes with plant material of known protein content (Sesbania, 22% CP). The preparations were digested (Tecator 2000 digestion block, Foss. ltd., Australia) at 350 °C for 1.5 hr in a fume hood. Urine was digested for 30 minutes. The samples were then cooled for about 10 minutes, and then 30 ml of distilled water was then added to the tubes. Distillation was then done in automatic distillation units (Kjeltec system 1026 distilling unit, Tecator, Denmark) for 3 minutes.

The distiller was configured to dispense 30 mL of NaOH (35% weight /100ml (w/v) and an indicator solution (2.5% w/v bromocresol green +2.5% w/v methyl red) into the sample tubes. Ammonia produced was then received in 4% boric acid with the color of the solution changing from pink to green. The receiver solution was then titrated against standardized HCl (0.01N for feed and faecal samples, and 0.001 N for urine) using a burette, and the volume of the acid used

to reach the end point (solution turning back to pink) was recorded. The percentages N in the samples were calculated using the formula:

$$\%$$
N = $\frac{1.401(V-B)N}{w \times DM\%}$

Where,

V= volume of HCL used, B= Blank titration, N= Normality of HCl, W= Weight of sample taken, DM%= Dry matter of sample.

3.4.3 NDF determination

Feed and refusal samples were analysed for NDF by the procedure of Van Soest and Robertson (1985).

3.4.4 Condensed tannin determination

Calliandra samples were analyzed for CT at the Australian Wine Research Institute, Adelaide, Australia using direct phloroglucolysis as described below.

250 mg of ground Calliandra leaf was extracted with 5 mL of 70% acetone-water containing 0.1% ascorbic acid, three times and centrifuged at 10,000 revolutions per minute for 15 minutes at 4°C. The supernatants were combined and the acetone was removed by rotary evaporation at 40°C. The aqueous fraction was washed with 5 mL of dichloromethane, separated by centrifugation, rotary evaporated at 40°C to remove remaining traces of dichloromethane. The solution was then made up to 10 mL with water and then loaded into SepPak[®] reverse phase C 18 cartridges. The degree of polymerisation was calculated from the ratio of phoroglucinol adduct: monomer after acid degradation in the presence of phoroglucinol.

10 mg of calliandra CT was degraded using Acid- phloroglucinol procedure as described by Koupai-Abyazani *et al.*, (1992), in 200 μ l of a solution comprising of 2% (v/v) HCl in ethanol, and 4% pholoroglucinol. Samples were heated at 80°C for 16 hr then the preparations were dried

under vacuum for 30 minutes and the residues were suspended in 100 μ l of water. The mixtures were then extracted three times with 200 μ L of ethyl acetate, ethyl acetate fractions combined and dried. The residues were then dissolved in 70% methanol and analysed by HPLC. The concentration of monomeric flavan-3-ols were determined and the net concentrations of CT in the samples were determined by the sum of monomers detected, the average size of the tannins (MDp- mean degree of polymerization) obtained by the molar ratio of terminal subunits to extension subunits.

3.5 Estimation of apparent digestibility and N balance

Total tract DM, OM and CP digestibility were calculated from the average nutrient concentrations in diets fed and faeces excreted over a 7d period. Nitrogen balance calculations were carried out according to Maynard and Loosli, (1969) based on the equation: N animal products = N feed - N excreted.

Modified in this study as;

N balance (g/d) = Intake N (g/d) – (faecal N (g/d) + urine N (g/d)).

3.6 Purine derivatives determination

Urine samples were removed from the freezer and thawed overnight. The four PDs; allantoin, uric acid, xanthine and hypoxanthine in the samples were determined by colorimetric method, according to the procedures of Chen and Gomes (1995). Each assay was conducted as described below.

3.6.1 Allantoin analysis

Thawed urine samples were placed on a sonicator for 20 minutes to dissolve any crystals then 100µL was fetched using Gilson pipette and diluted in the ratio 1:40 with distilled water (by adding 3.9 mL). 0.5 mL of diluted samples was then dispensed in duplicates into 10 mL test

tubes. 1.25 mL of distilled water and 0.25 mL of 0.5 M NaOH were added into the tubes and mixed well by vortexing. The tubes were then incubated in a boiling water bath for seven minutes. The samples were then cooled in an ice bath for about five minutes.

0.3 mL of cold 0.5 M HCl and 0.25 mL phenylhydrazine HCl were added into the tubes once the samples had cooled down and vortexed again before incubating in boiling water bath for another seven minutes. Cooled samples were transferred into fume cupboard and 0.84 mL cold concentrated HCl was added then vortexed. Samples were then removed from the fume cupboard.

To the first tube, 0.25 mL potassium ferricyanide was then added and the timer set at 40 minutes, started. The tube was vortexed and placed back to the rack. The reagent was then added to the next tube and vortexed at intervals of 12 second, one after the other, until all the tubes were done. The tubes were then kept on the bench for color development. After 18 minutes, the tubes were again vortexed thoroughly and reading for optical density (OD) started after 20 minutes using spectrophotometer, (UV-150-02, Shimadzu corporation, Japan) at 522 nm at 12 second intervals.

Allantoin concentration in the samples was estimated by plotting a standard curve (concentration (mg/L) against optical density) using allantoin solution with concentrations ranging from 5 to 40 mg/L. The equation of the curve was only for the samples analysed on the same day when it was developed and new standard curve was developed on each day of analysis.

3.6.2 Uric acid

Preparation of urine samples was done as for allantoin by sonicating for 20 minutes then diluted in the ratio 1:40 with distilled water.

1ml of diluted samples, standard solution and distilled water (blank) were dispensed in duplicates into 10 ml test tubes using Gilson pipette. 2.5 mL phosphate buffer was then added to all test tubes and vortexed. To one set, 150 μ L of buffer was added and to the other, 150 μ L of 0.12 units/mL uricase enzyme from *Bacillus fastidiosus* (Sigma Aldrich, UK) was added. The two sets were vortexed then incubated in a water bath at 37°C for 90 minutes. The samples were vortexed again after incubation before reading for OD at 293 nm.

Standard curve was plotted using natural log. For concentrations of the standard solutions against natural log for OD. The equation of the curve derived was then used to estimate the amount of uric acid in the urine samples.

3.6.3 Xanthine and hypoxanthine

Urine samples were prepared and diluted as described for allantoin above (procedure 3.5.2). Two sets of the test tubes were prepared and in to each pair, 1ml of the standard solution (for standard curve) and diluted samples were dispensed. 2.5 mL phosphate buffer was added to all the tubes and vortexed. 0.35 mL L-Histidine was then added and vortexed again.

To one set, 150 μ L of buffer was added and to the other, 150 μ l of the xanthine oxidase was added and vortexed. The setup was then incubated in water bath at 37°C for 60 minutes, before reading for absorbance in a spectrophotometer at 293 nm. Standard curve was also plotted using Ln (conc.) against Ln (OD) and the equation of the slope used to estimate the net concentration of xanthine and hypoxanthine in the urine samples. Absorbance of xanthine in the samples was corrected by adding a factor derived from multiplying xanthine standard curve gradient with sample xanthine/hypoxanthine concentration.

3.6.4 Total purine derivatives determination

Total purine derivatives excreted were determined as the sum of allantoin, uric acid, xanthine and hypoxanthine in mmol/day. The amount of purines absorbed by cattle is related to the urinary PDs excreted and were estimated using the equation of Chen and Gomes, (1995).

3.6.5 Microbial nitrogen flow

Equation developed by Verbic *et al.*, (1990) was used to calculate absorbed purines from total excreted purines, by as illustrated below.

$$AP = \frac{PD - (0.385 \times LW^{0.75})}{0.85}$$

Where: AP is the Absorbed Purines (mmol.d); PD the total Purine Derivatives excreted (mmol.d); 0.85 the recovery of absorbed purines as purine derivatives in the urine (mmol mmol^{-1}); and 0.385 the endogenous purine derivatives excretion in the urine per unit of metabolic size (mmol).

Intestinal flow of microbial N (g N/d) was calculated from microbial purines absorbed as shown below.

Microbial N (gN/d) =
$$\frac{X(\text{mmol/d}) \times 70}{(0.116 \times 0.83 \times 1000)}$$

Where; digestibility of microbial purines was assumed to be 0.83, N content in purines is 70mg N/mmol. And the ratio of purine-N: total N in mixed rumen microbes was taken as 11.6:100.

3.7 Statistical analysis

Treatment effects on intake, digestibility, N use efficiency and microbial protein production were analyzed using R 3.0.3 (R core team, 2015). The treatment effects were compared using Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) type 3 using linear mixed model fitted by REML t-tests with Satterthwaite approximations of degree of freedom (LmerTest) (Kuznetsova *et al.*, 2014) because the model was not fully orthogonal. A mixed model with breed, period and dietary treatments as fixed effects and animal ID (identification) as a random variable was fitted on the data; as shown below.

Y = Breed + period + dietary treatment +
$$\frac{1}{\text{Animal ID}}$$
 + e

Where; 'e' is residual error.

The differences between means were compared by the least square means method and level of significance was determined at P < 0.05.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Chemical composition of diet ingredients

The chemical composition of wheat straw and air dried *Calliandra calothyrsus* leaves used in the current experiment are presented in Table 4-1.

Attributes	Wheat straw	Calliandra	
	(g/kg DM)	(g/kg DM)	
DM	877.3 ± 68.7	897.3 ± 80.2	
OM	936.4 ± 96.4	935.8 ± 103.5	
NDF	807.2 ± 72.5	405.4 ± 73.8	
СР	20.0 ± 3.9	257.5 ± 36.9	
Condensed tannins	N/A	32.0 ± 7.4	

Table 4-1: Chemical composition of wheat straw and air dried Calliandra calothyrsus leaves (g/kg DM ±SD) used as the basal diet and supplement respectively

SD- Standard deviation; DM- Dry Matter; OM- Organic Matter; NDF- Neutral detergent fibre; CP-Crude protein. Crude protein content of the wheat straw in the current experiment (20.0 ± 1.1 g/kg on DM basis) was substantially lower than values reported in literature. NRC (2000), report CP content at 3.8% while reports from animal feeding trials have wide ranging values between 1.8- 5.9% CP (Blümmel *et al.*, 1997 Arora *et al.*, 2011). The low CP in wheat straw hay used in the present trial than reported, could have been attributed to differences in crop and fodder production practices between developed and developing economies. The low protein levels could have been as a result of lack or low fertilizer application rates in crop production, poor soil fertility or poor post-harvest management e.g. exposure to weather elements- rain and sun; all of which are reported to lower CP content in crop (Ahn *et al.*, 1997); all these commonly observed in SSA.

While NRC values are derived from western economies cropping systems, lower values in the straws used in the present experiment could reflect poor crop and pasture management practices

in the sub-Saharan farming systems. The CP levels of *Calliandra calothyrsus* on the other hand were within range reported in literature (25.0- 26.4% on DM basis) (Perez Maldonado and Norton, 1996, Paterson *et al.*, 1999, Tuwei *et al.*, 2003). The slight variation in *Calliandra Calothyrsus* in CP levels from what has been reported could be due to the inherent ability of the crop to fix nitrogen, hence it is be less affected by soil level of N (Pengelly and Conway, 2000). Whatever the cause of the unexpectedly low CP content of the wheat straw fed, the result was that even the supplemented diets had less than the 7% CP per DMI, generally considered the minimum necessary for fully effective rumen digestion of plant material (Koster *et al.*, 1996).

The NDF in wheat straw at 807 g/kg was within range of the values reported in earlier studies ranging from 760- 887 g/kg (Acock *et al.*, 1979, Brand *et al.*, 1991, Haddad *et al.*, 1994, George *et al.*, 2006). NDF content in *Calliandra calothyrsus* (40.5%) was also within expectation with values in literature ranging between 386-428 g/kg (Norton and Ahn, 1997, Tuwei *et al.*, 2003).

4.2 Feed intake

The effect of *Calliandra calothyrsus* supplementation on DM, OM and CP intake is shown in Table 4-2. Both Daily and Bi-d supplementation significantly increased (P<0.05) DM and OM intakes compared to the CON treatment but there was no difference between the two supplementation frequencies (P=0.610). Due to the variation on initial live weight of experimental animals, variables were expressed per 100 kg LW to eliminate its effect.

Table 4-2: Intake as fed, DM, OM and CP daily intakes ±SD (g/100 kg LW.d) and DM, OM and CP apparent digestibility (g/kg) in steers fed on chaffed wheat straw hay and supplemented with air dried *Calliandra calothyrsus* leaves

		Diet	
Item	CON	Daily	Bi-D
Total intake (g/100kg.d)			
Intake as fed	1711±215.3 ^a	2029 ± 392.8^{b}	1993±324.2 ^b
DM	1509±196.9 ^a	1756±345.1 ^b	1810±288.0 ^b
OM	$1401{\pm}197.2^{a}$	1633±325.7 ^b	1683±278.1 ^b
СР	32±3.5 ^a	75±11.2 ^b	$78\pm8.6^{\mathrm{b}}$
Digestibility (g/kg)			
DM	$584{\pm}51.7^{a}$	584 ± 40.5^{a}	570 ± 45.4^{a}
OM	614±46.1 ^a	616±34.0 ^a	601 ± 40.3^{a}
СР	91±53.2 ^a	290 ± 92.3^{b}	$257{\pm}74.4^{b}$

DM- Dry matter; *OM-* organic matter; *CP-*Crude protein; *CON-* Control; *Bi-d - Bi-* diurnal; *SD-* Standard deviation. ^{*a*, b} Means within the same row(a, b) without a common superscript differ (P<0.05).

Increased DM intake with protein supplementation observed in this study was in agreement with previous experiments when low protein diets fed to ruminants were supplemented with a protein source (Del Curto *et al.*, 1990, Koster *et al.*, 1996, McGuire *et al.*, 2013). Increased voluntary intake in supplemented cattle has been associated with increased microbial activity and increased rumen turnover (Allen, 1996, Koster *et al.*, 1996, Herd and Arthur, 2009). The increased intake observed in the present study when steers were receiving Calliandra supplement suggest that low CP in the diet was limiting intake in the basal (CON) treatment, receiving the basal diet alone. Although supplementation increased total DM intake, the steers however, still may not have attained their maintenance energy and protein requirements; probably because the CP level in the supplemented diets were about 4.96% which were not only too low but also below 7% that is considered minimal for optimal intake in cattle on a high forage diet (Koster *et al.*, 1996). Intake by Boran steers did not increase with supplementation (Table 4-3) which was unexpected.

Supplementation frequency i.e. Daily and Bi-d did not affect intakes by the steers which was in agreement with Currier *et al.* (2004) and Archibeque *et al.* (2007b). Farmer *et al.* (2004) also observed no difference in DMI with infrequently N supplementation as low as once every three days. Sustained higher intake with infrequent supplementation could be explained by improved N utilization by the animals on the days when no supplement was fed (Archibeque *et al.*, 2007b). Archibeque *et al.* (2007b) observed that lower concentrations of rumen ammonia increased reabsorption of urea back to the rumen from the portal blood and lower N losses in urine on the low protein days, when alternating high and low dietary CP levels fed to finishing cattle. The possible improved N recycling with infrequent supplementation could have increased ammonia concentration in the rumen on the day when no supplement was provided. This possibly enhanced rumen activity turnover hence increased intake observed.

Table 4-3: Average DMI (g/100 kg LW.d) of steers fed on wheat straw and supplemented with air dried Calliandra leaves

	Breed		
Treatment	Boran	Friesian	
CON	1506.6±47 ^{a,x}	1548.8±106 ^{a,x}	
Daily	$1566.0\pm 65^{a,x}$	$1946.7 \pm 134^{b,y}$	
Bi-d	$1605.1 \pm 70^{a,x}$	$1954.3 \pm 153^{b,y}$	

^{a, b} Means within the same row(a, b) and column(x, y) without a common superscript differ (P < 0.05)

4.3 Digestibility

Dry matter digestibility (DMD) of basal wheat straw was 584g/kg which was within the range of the values reported in literature (Acock *et al.* 1979; Wiedmeier *et al.* 1983; Brand *et al.* 1991; Haddad *et al.* 1994; George *et al.* 2006). *Calliandra calothyrsus* supplementation did not affect apparent digestibility of DM or OM and this could be explained by the sub-maintenance intakes

in all treatments- evidenced by weight loss by the animals. At levels below maintenance intake, digestibility has been shown to remain unchanged (Doreau *et al.* 2003) and even in some instances decreased with decreasing DM intake (Atti *et al.* 2002). This is normally not the case above maintenance where decreased intake increase ruminal retention time resulting in increased fibre digestibility (Frisch and Vercoe 1977). It has been postulated that at maintenance intake, retention time is long enough to optimise microbial degradation (Grimaud *et al.* 1999). Any further increase therefore would not alter digestibility because fibre contact time with microbes is no longer the limiting factor and this could explain the current observation. No change in digestibility in the present study was observed even in the supplemented treatments which had increased DM and OM intake probably because total intake in all dietary treatments were below maintenance requirements, and hence would remain unchanged. The positive effect of CP supplementation on digestibility of a low protein diet in this study was not observed probably because the effect may have been masked by the sub maintenance intake effect on the supplemented animals. The still low N intake and probably other dietary limiting factors e.g.

Apparent CP digestibility increased with supplementation (Table 4-2), in agreement with Currier *et al.*, (2004a) and McGuire *et al.*, (2013). Supplementation frequency however had no (P=0.48) effect on CP digestibility probably because the supplementation interval was narrow (48 hr) and the treatments were receiving the same level of Calliandra per unit time. Protein supplementation frequency as low as once in every 6 days has been shown to have similar effect as daily supplementation in cattle (Farmer *et al.*, 2001). The apparent low CP digestibility observed in the CON (9.1%) was most likely a result of a high level of metabolic N in the excreta (Ferrell *et al.*, 2001) which is not of dietary origin and therefore falsely reducing digestibility coefficients. Generally, metabolic N of about 5.35 g N/kg DMI is reported in ruminants' faeces when

consuming low-quality forages (Currier *et al.*, 2004). This significantly reduces the apparent digestibility coefficient when total N intake is low explaining the low digestibility on in the present study. Also, Cereal straws have highly lignified protein that is not acid- soluble and this would likely contributed to the low digestibility of CP in the wheat straw used (Mgheni *et al.*, 1994).

The higher CP digestibility coefficients reported with both supplementation regimes compared to the CON was likely as a result of increased amount of dietary CP consumed by the steers with minimal increase in N excreted in faeces (Currier *et al.*, 2004; Wickersham *et al.* 2008a). Supplemental Calliandra also could have provided readily digestible protein improving overall total tract CP digestibility. There were no breed differences observed in DM, OM and CP digestibility between Friesian and Boran steers (P>0.34). It has been suggested that digestibility is influenced more by feed factors rather than the genetic differences between breeds (Vercoe and Frisch 1992) hence the feed characteristics must have overridden the breed effect between the two breeds in the present study.

4.4 Total N intake, excretion and balance

As expected, the nitrogen intakes (g N/100kg.d) were higher (P<0.001) for the supplemented treatments (both Daily and Bi-d) compared to the CON in this experiment (Table 4-4). This is because the *Calliandra calothyrsus* supplemented to the steers was higher in CP (257.5 ± 4.0) compared to the basal diet.

Table 4-4: N intake, faecal N, urinary N, total N excretion (g /100kg LW.d) and N balance ± SD (%) of steers fed on wheat straw hay and supplemented with air dried *Calliandra calothyrsus* leaves.

		Diet	
Item	CON	Daily	Bi-d
N intake (g N/100kg.d)	5.0±0.71 ^a	12.0±1.70 ^b	12.7±1.63 ^b
Faecal N	5.4±0.61 ^a	8.5 ± 1.05^{b}	9.3 ± 1.74^{b}
(g N/100kg.d)			
Urinary N (g N/100kg.d)	1.1 ± 0.13^{a}	1.3±0.34 ^a	1.4 ± 0.30^{a}
Total N excretion		0.76.1.20 ^b	107.104 ^b
(g N/100kg.d)	6.5±0.67	9.76±1.29	10./±1.94*
N balance %	-33.3±6.7 ^a	17.7 ± 8.9^{b}	13.7±6.5 ^b

^{a, b} Means within the same row(a, b) and column(x, y) without a common superscript differ (P < 0.05)

Feacal N excretion significantly (P>0.001) increased with supplementation, while urinary N was not different in the three dietary treatments (P>0.09) (Table 4-4). This was in agreement with the findings by Tiemann *et al.*, (2008). The response in faecal N to supplementation but not in urinary N suggest that the most of the supplemented protein may not have been available for microbial breakdown in the rumen maintaining low ammonia concentrations despite increased dietary protein level. This trend also was observed by Tiemann *et al.*, (2008), when feeding CT-rich fodder to cattle. *Calliandra* supplement used in this study had moderate levels of CT (32.0±1.9 g/kg) and this could have bound the protein in the rumen. The close proximity of CT and protein; the two being concentrated in the supplement could have enabled complexes formation during mastication in the mouth (Theodoridou, 2010). The then likely low ammonia concentration in the rumen resulted in low ammonia losses to the portal circulation, consequently low levels of urea produced in the liver and N in urine from the animals. Similar conditions have

been described by Tiemann *et al.*, (2008) while supplementing tannin-rich *Calliandra calothyrsus* and *Flemingia macrophylla* fodder to sheep.

Increased faecal N excretion with supplemetation may be due incomplete digestion of additional dietary protein reaching the abomasum and the duodenum probably because of incomplete dissocoation of CT-protein complexes hence bypassing lower tract digestion also. Increased hindgut fermentation as a result of high fibre in the ruminal outflow may have also increased post ruminal microbial growth and hence again enriching microbial N in faeces (Mlay *et al.*, 2003). Low urinary N losses on the other hand could be explained by the fact that CP dietary levels were low and the animals could have been capturing it optimally (Reynolds and Kristensen, 2008) - both from the diet and recycling from the portal circulation.

The proportion of total N excreted by the steers in urine were 16.9%, 13.3% and 12.7% for CON, Daily and Bi-d respectively. In contrast to the CON, the supplemented treatments had a higher proportion of their N excreted in faeces (Figure 4.1) suggesting that most of the N excreted by the steers was not readily volatilized in the environment. Unsupplemented steers however had the lowest (P<0.001) total N excretion amongst the three treatments. N excretion in the two breeds significantly increased with supplementation more so when the supplement was fed on alternate days. Excretions within breed however was not different (P>0.05) between the two supplementation frequencies (Figure 4.1). The higher N excretion with supplementation is attributable to the increased dietary CP levels and the presence of CT making some of this additional protein escape breakdown in the gut of the animals Tiemann *et al.*, (2008).



Figure 1: Faecal and urinary N excretion in Friesian and Boran steers fed *ad libitum* on wheat straw alone (CON) and supplemented either daily (Daily) or bi-diurnal (Bi-d) with air dried *Calliandra calothyrsus* leaves

Supplementation improved nitrogen retention (P<0.001) in the steers but supplementation frequency had no effect (P=0.6) (Table 4-4). The improved N balance with supplementation was consistent with Wickersham *et al.*, (2008b) observation, while supplementing rumen RDP - casein at both low (61mg of N/kg LW.d and 183 mg every third day) and high (183 mg of N/kg of LW.d and 549 mg every third day) levels in cattle. As in the current experiment, the authors did not observe a significant difference in the supplementation frequencies, even though they observed a higher plasma urea level with infrequent high RDP supplementation. The authors also reported higher recycling of urea back to the rumen on days in between supplementation events and a higher capture of recycled N by microbes which could explain the improved N efficiency despite higher urea plasma levels with infrequent supplementation. These parameters were, however, not measured in the present study.

Improved N balance in both supplemented treatments (Daily and Bi-d) (P<0.001) in this study suggests that most of the supplemental protein in Calliandra fed to the steers was available for animal use. Most of the CT-protein complexes bypassing ruminal digestion must have been dissociated in the lower tract, intestinally dissected, with the protein being absorbed by the animals. Some of the protein however must have escaped enzymatic digestion in the abomasum and duodenum and excreted – as indicated by increased faecal N probably because of incomplete CT-protein complexes dissociation (Frutos *et al.*, 2004).

Both Daily and Bi-d supplemented animals were in a positive N balance (17.70 and 13.74% respectively) whereas the unsupplemented steers were in a negative N- balance (-33.3%). The negative N balance could be explained by the low N in the diet consumed by the CON; lower than the metabolic N excreted by the animals.

4.5 Urinary purine derivatives and microbial protein synthesis

In all dietary treatments, urine concentrations of PDs were in the following order: allantoin (85-89%) followed by uric acid (9-13%) then xanthine and hypoxanthine (1-3%) which were in agreement with other findings in literature from cattle studies (Sampaio *et al.*, 2010, Souza *et al.*, 2010). All the three derivatives excreted in urine were higher in the supplemented steers than the CON treatment (P<0.001) (Table 4-5). Allantoin and total PDs excreted were significantly higher for Daily supplementation than Bi-d supplementation (P<0.01) indicating that PD excretion was highest when Calliandra supplement was provided daily. There was no breed effect on the total PD excreted (P> 0.52).

Microbial N supply was highest (P<0.001) with Daily supplementation and lowest in the CONwhich had negative coefficient (-2.57 g N/100 kg LW.d) (Table 4-5). When efficiency of microbial N supply was expressed on digestible organic matter intake (DOMR) basis, microbial N supply reduced slightly for in all the treatments (Table 4-5).

Table 4-5: Allantoin, uric acid, xanthine + hypoxanthine, total PD excretion, absorbed purines, microbial N supply (mmol/100 kg LW.d) and efficiency of microbial N supply in steers fed chaffed wheat straw hay and supplemented with air dried *Calliandra calothyrsus* leaves

		Diet	
Item	CON	Daily	Bi-d
Allantoin	7.2 ± 1.52^{a}	12.3±1.73 ^b	9.5±0.92 ^c
(mmol/100kg.d)			
Uric acid (mmol/100kg.d)	$0.8{\pm}0.13^{a}$	1.4±0.26 ^b	1.4 ± 0.322^{b}
Xan+ Hyp (mmol/100kg.d)	$0.2{\pm}0.03^{a}$	$0.3{\pm}0.05^{b}$	0.3±0.05 ^b
PD excretion (mmol/100kg.d)	7.9±1.5 ^a	13.6±1.3 ^b	11.1±0.92 ^c
AP	-3.5±1.59 ^a	3.1 ± 1.17^{b}	0.3±0.07 ^c
Microbial N supply (g N/100kg.d)	-2.6±1.5 ^a	2.2±1.15 ^b	0.2±0.53 ^c
Efficiency of microbial N supply (g N/kg DOMR)	-3.0±1.84 ^a	$1.8{\pm}1.05^{b}$	0.3±0.41 ^c

DOMR: 0.65×DOMI (ARC, 1984). DOMR- Apparently digested organic matter intake; DOMI- Digestible organic matter intake; PD- Purine derivatives; AP- Absorbed purines.

Microbial N supply and efficiency of microbial N supply were generally low in all the three treatments in this study compared to values reported in literature in cattle also fed on low quality diets. Sampaio *et al.*, (2010) reported microbial N flow of 11.7 g/100 kg LW.d when feeding cattle with *Brachiaria decumbens* hay (CP, 4.86%), while Souza *et al.*, (2010) feeding *Brachiaria decumbens* (CP, 5.16%) to crossbred heifers reported N flow of 17.6 g/100 kg LW.d. The low supply was because of inadequate protein levels in the diet to support optimum microbial growth in the rumen. The probable reduced availability of supplemental protein for
ruminal breakdown due of the presence of CT in the Calliandra could have moderated the increase in the supplemented treatments. Inadequate energy supply from the diet due to sub maintenance intake could have further hampered microbial growth in this study hence low microbial N supply and efficiency. The observed increase in microbial N supply with supplementation might have been as a result of increased recycling of urea back to the rumen as described by Wickersham *et al.*, (2009) when feeding a low quality diet supplemented with ruminally unavailable protein rather than direct breakdown of supplemental protein in the rumen.

Unlike the present study where negative coefficients for microbial N supply were observed (Table 4-5), Sampaio *et al.*, (2010) reported positive supply 11.7 g/100 kg LW.d in the control treatment where no protein supplement was provided. This may be explained by the higher crude protein level in the basal diet (4.86%) compared to that in the present study (2.0%). Apparent negative microbial N supply in the present study could have been because the steers lost weight.

4.6 Live weight changes

Steers in all treatment groups lost weight (P<0.05) during the experiment. CON lost the most weight at an average of 1.24 kg per week, followed by Bi-d at 0.63 kg, then Daily supplementation at 0.32 kg per week. There was no effect of breed (P=0.22) on the model fixed on weight change.

		Treatment	
Breed	CON	Daily	Bi-d
	(Kg/week)		
Boran	-1.07±0.32 ^a	-0.23±0.14 ^b	-0.55 ± 0.12^{b}
Friesian	-1.41±0.23 ^a	-0.41 ± 0.20^{b}	-0.71±0.26 ^b
Average	-1.24±0.25 ^a	-0.32±0.19 ^b	-0.63±21 ^b

Table 4-6: Weight changes (kg/week) in Friesian and Boran steers fed on chaffed wheat straw alone or supplemented with air dried *Calliandra calothyrsus* leaves

^{a, b} Means within the same row(a, b) and column(x, y) without a common superscript differ ($P < \overline{0.05}$)

Decrease in LW observed across all treatment groups in this study was directly attributable the high NDF (80.7%) in the basal diet restricting intake to sub maintenance levels. Low protein (2.0%) level also, may have compromised rumen microbial growth and fibrolytic activity (Grimaud *et al.*, 1998) leading in underutilization of the diet consumed by the steers. The resultant low energy and microbial N supply to the animals could have resulted in mobilization of body tissues by the animals so as to meet both their energy and protein metabolic requirements hence the weight loss. CON treatment lost the highest weight probably because they had the lowest DM and CP intakes (as a proportion of their body weight). Singh *et al.*, (2008) feeding cattle on a rationed diet observed that cattle fed on up to 80% their *ad libitum* intake of a low quality diet (CP, 2.24%) lost weight of 250 g per day; agreeing with the present study. Dixon *et al.*, (2011) also feeding *ad libitum* low protein basal diet (CP, 3.8%) observed weight loss in the animals. Overall CP content in the supplemented diets were also low (4.96%) and less than expected, restricting rumen microbial efficiency and thus intake.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMENDATIONS

5.1 CONCLUSIONS

- Daily or alternate day Calliandra supplementation improved total DM intake in cattle but had no effect on apparent digestibility. Friesian steers had higher intake than the Boran but there was no difference in digestibility between the two breeds.
- 2. Nitrogen retention in both Friesian and Boran steers improved with *Calliandra calothyrsus* supplementation irrespective of whether the supplement was provided daily or on alternate days.
- 3. Microbial N flow and efficiency of microbial N supply improved with supplementation in Boran and Friesian steers with daily higher increase with Daily supplementation.

5.2 RECOMENDATIONS

- 1. Dry matter intake in cattle consuming low protein basal diets can be improved by supplementing their diets with *Calliandra calothyrsus* as a protein source either daily or on alternate days as long as the animals receive the same amount of supplement per unit time.
- 2. Supplementation improved microbial nitrogen flow but had no effect on total tract digestibility. More studies on minimal supplementation level are needed to establish optimal level required to meet microbial growth requirements in the rumen which will subsequently improve fibre digestibility in cattle and also increase microbial protein supply to the host animal.
- 3. *Calliandra calothyrsus* supplementation to cattle consuming low protein diet can reduce the amount of volatile N excreted to the environment therefore potentially reducing the amount of NH_3 and N_2O produced from cattle production systems. This potentially slows down rate of GHG emission to the environment.

CHAPTER 6: REFERENCES

- Abel, N., Baxter, J., Campbell, A., Cleugh, H., Fargher, J., Lambeck, R., Prinsley, R., Prosser,
 M., Reid, R. & Revell, G. (1997). Design principles for farm forestry: a guide to assist
 farmers to decide where to place trees and farm plantations on farms, Rural Industries
 Research and Development Corporation.
- Acock, C., Ward, J., Rush, I. G. & Klopfenstein, T. (1979). Wheat straw and sodium hydroxide treatment in beef cow rations. *Journal of Animal Science*, **49**, 354-360.
- Ahn, J. H., Elliott, R. & Norton, B. W. (1997). Oven drying improves the nutritional value of Calliandra calothyrsus and Gliricidia sepium as supplements for sheep given low-quality straw. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, **75**, 503-510.
- Ahn, J.H., Robertson, B.M., Elliott, R., Gutteridge, R.C. & Ford, C.W. (1989) Quality assessment of tropical browse legumes: tannin content and protein degradation. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, **27**, 147-156.
- Aitchison, E.M., Gill, M. & Osbourn, D.F. (1986). The effect of supplementation with maize starch and level of intake of perennial ryegrass (*Lolium perenne* cv. Endura) hay on the removal of digesta from the rumen of sheep. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 56, 477–486.
- Allen, M. S. (1996). Physical constraints on voluntary intake of forages by ruminants. *Journal of Animal Science*, **74**, 3063-75.
- Amon, B., Amon, T., Boxberger, J. & Alt, C. (2001). Emissions of ammonia, nitrous oxide and methane from dairy cows housed in a farmyard manure tying stall (housing, manure storage, manure spreading). *Nutrient cycling in Agroecosystems*, **60**, 103-113.
- A.O.A.C. (1990). In Helrich K. (Ed.), Official methods of analysis. (15th ed.). Arlington, VA, USA.
- Agricultural Ressearch Council (1984). The Nutrient Requirements of Ruminant Livestock. in: Report of the Protein Group of the Agricultural Research Council

Working Party on the Nutrient Requirements of Ruminants. Commonwealth Agriculture Bureaux, UK; (Supplement No. 1). Archibeque, S. L., Freetly, H. C., Cole, N. A. & Ferrell, C. L. (2007b). The influence of oscillating dietary protein concentrations on finishing cattle. II. Nutrient retention and ammonia emissions. *Journal of Animal Science*, **85**, 1,496-1,4503.

- Arora, D. S. & Sharma, R. K. (2011). Effect of different supplements on bioprocessing of wheat straw by *Phlebia brevispora*: changes in its chemical composition, *in vitro* digestibility and nutritional properties. *Bioresource Technolology*, **102**, 8,085– 8,091
- Arthur, J. P. & Herd, R. (2008). Residual feed intake in beef cattle. *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia*, **37**, 269-279.
- Atkinson, R. L., Toone, C. D., Robinson, T. J., Harmon, D. L. & Ludden, P. A. (2007). Effects of supplemental ruminally degradable protein versus increasing amounts of supplemental ruminally undegradable protein on nitrogen retention, apparent digestibility, and nutrient flux across visceral tissues in lambs fed low-quality forage. *Journal of Animal Science*, **85**, 3,331-3,339.
- Austin, P. J., Suchar, L. A., Robbins, C. T. & Hagerman, A. E. (1989). Tannin-binding proteins in saliva of deer and their absence in saliva of sheep and cattle. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, **15**, 1,335-1,347.
- Atti, N., Kayouli, C., Mahouachi, M., Guesmi, A. & Doreau, M. (2002). Effect of a drastic and extended underfeeding on digestion in Barbary ewe. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, **100**, 1-14.
- Barry, T. & McNabb, W. (1999). The implications of condensed tannins on the nutritive value of temperate forages fed to ruminants. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **81**, 263-272.

- Bauchop, T. (1967). Inhibition of rumen methanogenesis by methane analogues. Journal of Bacteriology, **94.**171-175.
- Bauman, D. (1999). Bovine somatotropin and lactation: from basic science to commercial application. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology*, **17**, 101-116.
- Beaty, J., Cochran, R., Lintzenich, B., Vanzant, E., Morrill, J., Brandt, R. & Johnson, D. (1994).
 Effect of frequency of supplementation and protein concentration in supplements on performance and digestion characteristics of beef cattle consuming low-quality forages.
 Journal of Animal Science, 72, 2,475-2,486.
- Benz, D. A., & Johnson, D. E. (1982). The effect of monensin on energy partitioning by forage fed steers. Proceedings of the Annual Meeting. American Society for Animal Science Western Section (USA), pp. 60-62.
- Bird, S.H., Hegarty R.S., & Wooggate R. (2008). Persistence of defaunation effects on digestion and methane producction in ewes. *Australian Journal of experimental Agriculture*, 48, 152-155.
- Blaxter, K. L. & Clapperton, J. L. (1965). Prediction of the amount of methane produced by ruminants. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **19**, 511-522.
- Blümmel, M., Makkar, H., Chisanga, G., Mtimuni, J. & Becker, K. (1997). The prediction of dry matter intake of temperate and tropical roughages from *in vitro* digestibility/gas production data, and the dry matter intake and *in vitro* digestibility of African roughages in relation to ruminant live weight. *Animal Feed Science and Technolology*, **69**, 131–141.
- Bohnert, D. W., Schauer, C. S. & DelCurto, T. (2002). Influence of rumen protein degradability and supplementation frequency on performance and nitrogen use in ruminants consuming

low-quality forage: Cow performance and efficiency of nitrogen use in wethers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **80**, 1,629-1,637.

- Brand, A., Cloete, S. & Franck, F. (1991). effect of supplementing untreated, urea-supplemented and urea-ammoniated wheat-straw with maize-meal and/or fish-meal in sheep. *South African journal of animal science= Suid-Afrikaanse tydskrif vir veekunde*, **21**(1), 48-54.
- Bunting, L. D., Boling, J. A. & MacKown, C. T. (1989). Effect of dietary protein level on nitrogen metabolism in the growing bovine: I. Nitrogen recycling and intestinal protein supply in calves. *Journal of Animal Science*, 67, 810-819.
- Calsamiglia, S., Ferret, A., Reynolds, C. K., Kristensen, N. B. & van Vuuren, A. M. (2010). Strategies for optimizing nitrogen use by ruminants. *Animal*, **4** (7), 1184-96.
- Carlén, E. & Lansfors, B. (2002). Duck production in the Mekong Delta of Vietnam . A survey with emphasis on the development and the sustainability. Minor Field Studies No 209. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Carulla, J. E., Kreuzer, M. Machmüller, A. & Hess, H. D. (2005). Supplementation of *Acacia mearnsii* tannins decreases methanogenesis and urinary nitrogen in forage-fed sheep. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 56, 961–970.
- Cecchi, G., Wint, W., Shaw, A., Marletta, A., Mattioli, R. & Robinson, T. (2010). Geographic distribution and environmental characterization of livestock production systems in Eastern Africa. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 135, 98-110.
- Chen, X., Hovell, F. & Ørskov, E. (1990). Excretion of purine derivatives by ruminants: recycling of allantoin into the rumen via saliva and its fate in the gut. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **63**, 197-205.

- Chen, X. B. & Gomes, M. (1995). Estimation of microbial protein supply to sheep and cattle based on urinary excretion of purine derivatives-an overview of the technical details, International Feed Resources Unit.
- Church, D. & Santos, A. (1981). Effect of graded levels of soybean meal and of a nonprotein nitrogen-molasses supplement on consumption and digestibility of wheat straw. *Journal* of Animal Science, 53, 1,609-1,615.
- Clark, J., Klusmeyer, T. & Cameron, M. (1992). Microbial protein synthesis and flows of nitrogen fractions to the duodenum of dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, **75**, 2,304-2,323.
- Clemens, J., Trimborn, M., Weiland, P. & Amon, B. (2006). Mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions by anaerobic digestion of cattle slurry. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment,* **112,** 171-177.
- Cole, N. A. (1999). Nitrogen retention by lambs Fed oscillating dietary protein concentrations 1,
 2, 3. *Journal of Animal Science*, 77, 215-222.
- Cole, N. A., L. W. Greene, F. T. McCollum, T. Montgomery, & K. McBride. 2003. Influence of oscillating dietary crude protein concentration on performance, acid-base balance, and nitrogen excretion of steers. *Journal of Animal Science*, 81, 2,660–2,668.
- Currier, T., Bohnert, D., Falck, S. & Bartle, S. (2004). Daily and alternate day supplementation of urea or biuret to ruminants consuming low-quality forage: I. Effects on cow performance and the efficiency of nitrogen use in wethers. *Journal of Animal Science*, 82, 1,508-1,517.
- de Klein, C. A. M. & Eckard, R. J. (2008). Targeted technologies for nitrous oxide abatement from animal agriculture. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, **48**, 14-20.
- Del Curto, T., Cochran, R. C., Harmon, D. L., Beharka, A. A., Jacques, K. A., Towne, G. & Vanzant, E. S. (1990). Supplementation of dormant tallgrass-prairie forage: I. Influence

of varying supplemental protein and(or) energy levels on forage utilization characteristics of beef steers in confinement. *Journal of animal science*, **68**, 515-31.

- Demeyer, D.I., Fiedler, D. & De Graeve, K. G. (1996). Attempted induction of reductive acetogenesis into the rumen fermentation in vitro. *Reproduction Nutrition Development*, **36**, 233-240.
- Devendra, C. (1989). The use of shrubs and tree fodders by ruminants. Shrubs and tree fodders for farm animals. Proceedings of a workshop in Denpasar, Indonesia. International Development Research Centre, pp. 42-60.
- Devendra, C., Sevilla, C. & Pezo, D. (2001). Food-feed systems in Asia. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Science*, **14**, 733-745.
- Dixon, R., Playford, C. & Coates, D. (2011). Nutrition of beef breeder cows in the dry tropics. 1. Effects of nitrogen supplementation and weaning on breeder performance. *Animal Production Science*, **51**, 515-528.
- Dohme, F. Machmüller, A. Wasserfallen, A. & Kreuzer, M. (2001) Ruminal methanogenesis as influenced by individual fatty acids supplemented to complete ruminant diets. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, **32**, 47–51
- Dong Y., Bae H.D., McAllister T.A., Mathison G.W., Cheng K.J., (1997). Lipid-induced depression of methane production & digestibility in the artificial rumen system (RUSITEC), *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, **77**, 269–278.
- Doreau, M., Michalet-Doreau, B., & Béchet, G. (2004). Effect of underfeeding on digestion in cows. Interaction with rumen degradable N supply. *Livestock Production Science*, 88(1), 33-41.

- Du Toit, J., Provenza, F. D. & Nastis, A. (1991). Conditioned taste aversions: how sick must a ruminant get before it learns about toxicity in foods? *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 30, 35-46.
- Eckard, R., Grainger, C. & De Klein, C. (2010). Options for the abatement of methane and nitrous oxide from ruminant production: a review. *Livestock Science*, **130**, 47-56.
- Egan, A.R., Boda, K., & Varady, J. (1986). Regulation of nitrogen metabolism and recycling. In, 'Control of Digestion and Metabolism in Ruminants'. (Eds LP Milligan, WL Growum, A Dobson) (Prentice-Hall, New Jersey) pp. 386- 402.
- Farmer, C., Cochran, R., Simms, D., Klevesahl, E., Wickersham, T. & Johnson, D. (2001). The effects of several supplementation frequencies on forage use and the performance of beef cattle consuming dormant tallgrass prairie forage. *Journal of Animal Science*, **79**, 2,276-2,285.
- Farmer, C., Woods, B., Cochran, R., Heldt, J., Mathis, C., Olson, K., Titgemeyer, E. & Wickersham, T. (2004). Effect of supplementation frequency and supplemental urea level on dormant tallgrass-prairie hay intake and digestion by beef steers and prepartum performance of beef cows grazing dormant tallgrass-prairie. *Journal of Animal Science*, 82, 884-894.
- Ferrell, C. L., Freetly, H. C., Goetsch, A. L. & Kreikemeier, K. K. (2001). The effect of dietary nitrogen and protein on feed intake, nutrient digestibility, and nitrogen flux across the portal-drained viscera and liver of sheep consuming high-concentrate diets *ad libitum*. *Journal of Animal Science*, **79**, 1,322-1,328.
- Frisch, J. E., & Vercoe, J. E. (1977). Food intake, eating rate, weight gains, metabolic rate and efficiency of feed utilization in *Bos taurus* and *Bos indicus* crossbred cattle. *Animal Production*, 25(03), 343-358.

- Frutos, P., Hervas, G., Giráldez, F. J. & Mantecón, A. (2004). Review. Tannins and ruminant nutrition. Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research, 2, 191-202.
- Institute of Laboratory Animal Resources (US), (1985). Guide for the care and use of laboratory animals. Department of Health and Human Services ,Publication 82–23. National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, US.
- Galyean, M. L. & Owens, F.N. (1991). Effects of diet composition and level of feed intake on site and extent of digestion in ruminants. In: Tsuda, T., Sasaki, Y., Kawashima, R. (Eds.), Physiological Aspects of Digestion and Metabolism in Ruminants. Academic Press, San Diego, USA. Pp. 483–514.
- Garrett, W. N. (1982). Influence of monensin on the efficiency of energy utilization by cattle. In:A. Ekern and F. Sundstol (Ed.). Energy Metabolism of Farm Animals In: Proc. 9th Symp.EAAF' Publication No. 29:104.
- George, S., Dipu, M., Mehra, U., Verma, A. & Singh, P. (2006). Influence of level of feed intake on concentration of purine derivatives in urinary spot samples and microbial nitrogen supply in crossbred bulls. *Asian Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, **19** 1,291-1,297.
- Gerber, P. J., Steinfeld, H., Henderson, B., Mottet, A., Opio, C., Dijkman, J., Falcucci, A. & Tempio, G. (2013). *Tackling climate change through livestock: a global assessment of emissions and mitigation opportunities*, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome, Italy.

Giller, K. E. (2001). Nitrogen fixation in tropical cropping systems, CABI.

Godfray, H. C. J., Beddington, J. R., Crute, I. R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J. F. & Toulmin, C. (2010). Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. *Science*, 327(5,967), 812-818.

- Grimaud, P., Doreau, M., (1995). Effect of extended underfeeding on digestion and nitrogen balance in non-lactating cows. *Journal of Animal Science*, **73**, 211–219.
- Grimaud, P., Richard, D., Kanwé, A., Durier, C. & Doreau, M. (1998). Effect of undernutrition and refeeding on digestion in *Bos taurus* and *Bos indicus* in a tropical environment. *Animal Science*, 67, 49-58.
- Grimaud, P., Richard, D., Vergeron, M., Guilleret, J. & Doreau, M. (1999). Effect of drastic undernutrition on digestion in zebu cattle receiving a diet based on rice straw. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 82, 974-981.
- Guarino, M., C. Fabbri, M. Brambilla, L. Valli, and P. Navarotto. (2006). Evaluation of simplified covering systems to reduce gaseous emissions from livestock manure storage. Trans. ASABE, 49,737–747.
- Haddad, S., Grant, R. & Klopfenstein, T. (1994). Digestibility of alkali-treated wheat straw measured in vitro or in vivo using Holstein heifers. *Journal of Animal Science*, 72, 3,258-3,265.
- Hagerman, A. E., Robbins, C. T., Weerasuriya, Y., Wilson, T. C. & McArthur, C. (1992).Tannin chemistry in relation to digestion. *Journal of range management*, 57-62.
- Hannah, S., Cochran, R., Vanzant, E. & Harmon, D. (1991). Influence of protein supplementation on site and extent of digestion, forage intake, and. *Journal of Animal Science*, 69, 2,624-2,633.
- Hansen, R., Nielsen, D., Schramm, A., Nielsen, L., Revsbech, N. & Hansen, M. (2009).Greenhouse gas microbiology in wet and dry straw crust covering pig slurry. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 38, 1,311–1,319.
- Harrison, R. & Webb, J. (2001). A review of the effect of N fertilizer type on gaseous emissions. Advances in Agronomy, **73**, 65-108.

- Hegarty, R.S., Goopy, J.P., Herd, R.M. & McCorkell, B. 2007. Cattle selected for lower residual feed intake have reduced daily methane production. *Journal of Animal Science*, 85, 1,479–1,486.
- Herd, R. M. & Arthur, P. F. (2009). Physiological basis for residual feed intake. *Journal of Animal Science*, 87, E64-71.
- Herrero, M., Gerber, P., Vellinga, T., Garnett, T., Leip, A., Opio, C., Westhoek, H., Thornton,
 P., Olesen, J. & Hutchings, N. (2011). Livestock and greenhouse gas emissions: The importance of getting the numbers right. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 166, 779-782.
- Herrero, M., Thornton, P., Gerber, P. & Reid, R. (2009). Livestock, livelihoods and the environment: understanding the trade-offs. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 1, 111-120.
- Hervás, G., Frutos, P., Giráldez, F., Mantecón, Á. & Del Pino, M. (2003). Effect of different doses of quebracho tannins extract on rumen fermentation in ewes. *Animal Feed Science* and Technology, **109**, 65-78.
- Hof, G., Tamminga, S. & Lenaers, P. (1994). Efficiency of protein utilization in dairy cows. *Livestock Production Science*, 38, 169-178.
- Hook, S., Wright, A. & McBride, B. (2010). Methanogens: methane producers of the rumen and mitigation strategies. *Archaea*, **2010**, 1-11.
- Hulshof, R.B., Berndt, A., Gerrits, W.J., Dijkstra, J., van Zijderveld, S.M., Newbold, J.R. & Perdok, H.B. (2012). Dietary nitrate supplementation reduces methane emission in beef cattle fed sugarcane based diets. *Journal of Animal Science*. 90:2317–2323.
- Johnson D.E., Ward, G.M. & Ramsey, J. (1996). Livestock methane: current emissions and mitigation potential. In: In nutrient management of food animals to enhance and protect the environment, Kornegay E.T. (ed.), New York, USA.

- Johnson, K. & Johnson, D. (1995). Methane emissions from cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, **73**, 2,483-2,492.
- Kohn, R., Dinneen, M. & Russek-Cohen, E. (2005). Using blood urea nitrogen to predict nitrogen excretion and efficiency of nitrogen utilization in cattle, sheep, goats, horses, pigs, and rats. *Journal of Animal Science*, 83, 879-889.
- Kosgey, I., Rowlands, G., Van Arendonk, J. & Baker, R. (2008). Small ruminant production in smallholder and pastoral/extensive farming systems in Kenya. *Small Ruminant Research*, 77, 11-24.
- Koster, H., Cochran, R., Titgemeyer, E., Vanzant, E., Abdelgadir, I. & St-Jean, G. (1996). Effect of increasing degradable intake protein on intake and digestion of low-quality, tallgrass-prairie forage by beef cows. *Journal of Animal Science*, **74**, 2473-81.
- Koupai-Abyazani, M. R., McCallum, J., & Bohm, B. A. (1992). Identification of the constituent flavanoid units in sainfoin proanthocyanidins by reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography*, **594**(1), 117-123.
- Kuznetsov, A., Brockhoff, P. & Christensen, R. (2014) lmerTest:Tests for random and fixed effects for linerar mixed effect models (lmer objects of lme4 package). R package version 2.0–6. Available: <u>http://cran.r-project.org/package=lmerTest. (Retrieved on 13 February,</u> <u>2015)</u>.
- Lazzarini, I., Detmann, E., Sampaio, C., Paulino, M., Valadares Filho, S., Souza, M., & Oliveira,
 F. (2010). Intake and digestibility in cattle fed low-quality tropical forage and supplemented with nitrogenous compounds. *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia*, 38(10), 2021-2030.
- Leng, R. A. (1990). Factors affecting the utilization of 'Poor-Quality' forages by ruminants particularly under tropical conditions. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, **3**, 277-303.

- Leng, R. & Nolan, J. (1984). Nitrogen metabolism in the rumen. *Journal of Dairy Science*, **67**, 1072-1089.
- Lintzenich, B., Vanzant, E., Cochran, R., Beaty, J., Brandt, R. & St Jean, G. (1995). Influence of processing supplemental alfalfa on intake and digestion of dormant bluestem-range forage by steers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **73**, 1187-1195.
- Loyon, L., Guiziou, F., Beline, E. & Peu, P. (2007). Gaseous emissions (NH₃, N₂O, CH₄ and CO₂) from the aerobic treatment of piggery slurry, Comparison with a conventional storage system. *Biosystems Engineering*, **97**, 472–480.
- Lukuyu, B., Kitalyi, A., Franzel, S., Duncan, A. & Baltenweck, I. (2009). Constraints and options to enhancing production of high quality feeds in dairy production in Kenya, Uganda and Rwanda. ICRAF Working Paper no. 95. Nairobi, Kenya: World Agroforestry Centre.
- Luo, J., Lindsey, S. & Ledgard, S. (2008). Nitrous oxide emissions from animal urine application on a New Zealand pasture. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, **44**, 463-470.

Maynard, L., & Loosli, J. (1969). Animal nutrition, McGraw-Hill, New York (6th edition).

- Makkar, H. P. S. (2003). Effects and fate of tannins in ruminant animals, adaptation to tannins, and strategies to overcome detrimental effects of feeding tannin-rich feeds. *Small Ruminant Research*, **49**, 241-256.
- Marini, J., Fox, D. & Murphy, M. (2008). Nitrogen transactions along the gastrointestinal tract of cattle: A meta-analytical approach. *Journal of Animal Science*, **86**, 660-79.
- Marini, J., Klein, J., Sands, J. & Van Amburgh, M. (2004). Effect of nitrogen intake on nitrogen recycling and urea transporter abundance in lambs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 82, 1157-64.
- Marini, J. & Van Amburgh, M. (2003). Nitrogen metabolism and recycling in Holstein heifers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **81**, 545-52.

- Marini, J. & Van Amburgh, M. (2005). Partition of nitrogen excretion in urine and the feces of holstein replacement heifers. *Journal of Dairy Science*, **88**, 1778-1784.
- Mathis, C., Cochran, R., Heldt, J., Woods, B., Abdelgadir, I., Olson, K., Titgemeyer, E. & Vanzant, E. (2000). Effects of supplemental degradable intake protein on utilization of medium-to low-quality forages. *Journal of Animal Science*, **78**, 224-232.
- Mathis, C., Cochran, C., Stokka, G., Heldt, J., Woods, B. & Olson, K. (1999). Impacts of increasing amounts of supplemental soybean meal on intake and digestion by beef steers and performance by beef cows consuming low-quality tallgrass-prairie forage. *Journal of Animal Science*, **77**, 3156-3162.
- McCaughey, W. P., Wittenberg, K. & Corrigan, D. (1999). Impact of pasture type on methane production by lactating beef cows. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science* **82**, 3346-3356.
- Machmüller, A. & Kreuzer, M. (1999). Methane suppression by coconut oil and associated effects on nutrient and energy balance in sheep. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, **79**, 65–72.
- Mc Geough, E., O'Kiely, P., Hart, K., Moloney, A., Boland, T. & Kenny, D. (2010). Methane emissions, feed intake, performance, digestibility, and rumen fermentation of finishing beef cattle offered whole-crop wheat silages differing in grain content. *Journal of Animal Science*, **88**, 2,703-2,716.
- McGuire, D., Bohnert, D., Schauer, C., Falck, S. & Cooke, R. (2013). Daily and alternate day supplementation of urea or soybean meal to ruminants consuming low-quality coolseason forage: Effects on efficiency of nitrogen use and nutrient digestion. *Livestock Science*, **155**, 205-213.
- McLeod, M. (1974). Plant tannins-their role in forage quality. *Nutrition Abstracts and Reviews*,44, 803-815.

- Meijer, A., Lamers, W. & Chamuleau, R. (1990). Nitrogen metabolism and ornithine cycle function. *Physiological Reviews*, **70**, 701-748.
- Mgheni, D., Kimambo, A., Sundstøl, F. & Madsen, J. (1994). The influence of urea supplementation or treatment of rice straw and fish meal supplementation on rumen environment and activity in sheep. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, **49**, 223-235.
- Michalet-Doreau, B. & Doreau, M., (2001). Influence of drastic underfeeding on ruminal digestion in sheep. *Animal Research*, **50**, 451–462
- Min, B., Barry, T., Attwood, G. & McNabb, W. (2003). The effect of condensed tannins on the nutrition and health of ruminants fed fresh temperate forages: a review. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, **106**, 3-19.
- Mlay, P., Pereka, A., Weisbjerg, M., Hvelplund, T. & Madsen, J. (2003). Digestion and passage kinetics of fibre in mature dairy heifers maintained on poor quality hay as affected by the source and level of nitrogen supplementation. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 109, 19-33.
- Montes, F., Meinen, R., Dell, C., Rotz, A., Hristov, A., Oh, J., Waghorn, G., Gerber, P., Henderson, B., Makkar, H. & Dijkstra, J. (2013). Special topics-Mitigation of methane and nitrous oxide emissions from animal operations: II. A review of manure management mitigation options. *Journal of Animal Science*, **91**, 5,070-5,094.
- Moss, A., Jouany, J. & Newbold, J. (2000). Methane production by ruminants: its contribution to global warming. *Annales de Zootechnie*, **49**, 231-253.
- Mueller-Harvey I., Mcallan A.B. (1992). Tannins. Their biochemistry and nutritional properties. Advances in plant cell biochemistry and biotechnology, Vol. 1 (Morrison I.M., ed.). JAI Press Ltd., London, UK, pp. 151-217.

- Nguyen, T. (2005). Evaluation of agro-industrial by-products as protein sources for duck production in the Mekong Delta of Vietnam. *PhD Thesis*, Swedish University of Agricultural Science, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Nolan, J., & Dobos, R. (2005). Nitrogen transactions in ruminants. In :Quantitative Aspects of Ruminant Digestion and Metabolism. 2nd. (ed.) J. Dijkstra, J. M. Forbes, and J. France, (ed.) CABI Publisher, Wallingford, UK. Pp 177–206.
- Nolan, J.V., Hegarty, R.S., Hegarty, J., Godwin, I.R. & Woodgate, R. 2010. Effects of dietary nitrate on fermentation, methane production and digesta kinetics in sheep. *Animal Production science*, **50**, 801–806.
- Norton, B. W. & Ahn, J. H. (1997). A comparison of fresh and dried *Calliandra calothyrsus* supplements for sheep given a basal diet of barley straw. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, **129**, 485-494.
- NRC (2000). Nutrient Requirements of Beef Cattle: 7th Edition, The National Academies Press, Washington, DC, USA.
- O'Mara, F. P.(2011). The significance of livestock as a contributor to global greenhouse gas emissions today and in the near future. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, **166**, 7-15.
- Oenema, O., Oudendag, D.A., Witzke, H.P., Monteny, G.J., Velthof, G.L., Pietrzak, S., Pinto, M., Britz, W., Schwaiger, E., Erisman, J.W., De Vries, W., Van Grinsven, J.J. & Sutton, M. (2007a). Integrated Measures in Agriculture to Reduce Ammonia Emissions. In: Alterra-Report 1663. 4, pp 182, Alterra, Wageningen, Netherlands.
- Oenema, O., Velthof, G. L., Yamulki, S. & Jarvis, S. C. (1997). Nitrous oxide emissions from grazed grassland. *Soil Use and Management*, **13**, 288-295.
- Okanović, Đ., Ristić, M., Kormanjoš, Š., Filipović, S., & Živković, B. (2009). Chemical characteristics of poultry slaughterhouse byproducts. *Biotechnology in Animal Husbandry*, 25(1-2), 143-152.

- Okine, E. K., Wang, Z., Goonewardene, L. A., Mir, Z. & Liu, M. F. (2001). Residual metabolizable feed consumption as a method of comparing feed efficiency in steers fed silage and silage-grain diets. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, **92**, 87–93.
- Onwudike, O., (1986). Palm Kernel meal as a feed for poultry. 1 composition of Palm Kernel meal and availability of its amino acids to chicks. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 16, 179-186.
- Otte, M. & Chilonda, P. (2002). Cattle and small ruminant production systems in sub-Saharan Africa. *A systematic Review, Rome*.
- Palmer, B., & Schlink, A. C. (1992). The effect of drying on the intake and rate of digestion of the shrub legume Calliandra calothyrsus. *Tropical Grasslands*, 26, 89-89.
- Paterson, R., Karanja, G., Nyaata, O., Kariuki, I. & Roothaert, R. (1998). A review of tree fodder production and utilization within smallholder agroforestry systems in Kenya. *Agroforestry Systems*, **41**, 181-199.
- Paterson, R., Roothaert, R. & Nuyattas, O. (1996). Experience with *Calliandra calothyrsus* as a feed for livestock in Africa. In: International Workshop on the Genus Calliandra, Evans
 D. O. (ed) pp 195–209. Proceedings of a workshop held in January 1996 in Bogor, Indonesia. Forest, Farm and Community Tree Research Reports (Special Issue). Morrilton, USA: Winrock International
- Paterson, R., Kiruiro, E. & Arimi, H. (1999). Calliandra calothyrsus as a supplement for milk production in the Kenya highlands. *Tropical Animal Health Production*, **31**, 115-26.
- Paulino, P., Valadares Filho, S., Detmann, E., Valadares, R., Fonseca, M. & Marcondes, M. (2009). Body tissue and chemical component deposition in Nellore bulls, steers and heifers. *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia*, **38**, 2516-2524.
- Pengelly, B. C & Conway, M. J. (2000). Pastures on cropping soils: which tropical pasture legume to use? *Tropical Grasslands*, **34**,162–168.

- Perdok, H. & Leng, R. (1990). Effect of supplementation with protein meal on the growth of cattle given a basal diet of untreated or ammoniated rice straw. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, **3**, 269-279.
- Perez-Maldonado, R. & Norton, B. (1996). The effects of condensed tannins from *Desmodium intortum* and *Calliandra calothyrsus* on protein and carbohydrate digestion in sheep and goats. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **76** (4), 515-533.
- Peripolli, V., Prates, T., Barcellos, J. & Neto, J. (2011). Fecal nitrogen to estimate intake and digestibility in grazing ruminants. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, **163**, 170-176.
- Peters, M. & Lascano, C. (2003). Forage technology adoption: linking on-station research with participatory methods. *Tropical grasslands*, **37**, 197-203.
- Petersen, S. O. & Sommer, S. G. (2011). Ammonia and nitrous oxide interactions: Roles of manure organic matter management. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 167, 503– 513.
- Pinares-Patiño, C., Ebrahimi, S., McEwan, J., Dodds, K., Clark, H. & Luo, D. (2011). Is rumen retention time implicated in sheep differences in methane emission. *Proceedings of the New Zealand Society of Animal Production*. Pp. 219-222.
- Poppi, D. & McLennan, S. (1995). Protein and energy utilization by ruminants at pasture. *Journal of Animal Science*, **73**, 278-278.
- Preston, T. & Leng, R. (1987). Matching Ruminant Production Systems with Available Resources in the Tropics and Sub-tropics, Penambul Books, Armidale, Australia. Pp 245.
- R coreTeam (2015). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for statistical computing, Venna, Austria.URL://www.R-project. org/. (Retrieved, 12 February, 2015).

- Rakhmani, S., Brooker, J., Jones, G. & Palmer, B. (2005). Composition of condensed tannins from Calliandra calothyrsus and correlation with in sacco digestibility. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, **121**, 109-124.
- Reynal, S. & Broderick, G. (2005). Effect of dietary level of rumen-degraded protein on production and nitrogen metabolism in lactating dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 88, 4,045-4,064.
- Reynolds, C. K. (2006). Production and metabolic effects of site of starch digestion in lactating dairy cattle. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, **130**, 78–94.
- Reynolds, C. & Kristensen, N. (2008b). Nitrogen recycling through the gut and the nitrogen economy of ruminants: an asynchronous symbiosis. *Journal of Animal Science*, **86** (suppl), 293-305.
- Rotz, C. (2004). Management to reduce nitrogen losses in animal production. *Journal of Animal Science*, 82 (Suppl), 119-137.
- Rotz, C., Satter, L., Mertens, D., & Muck, R. (1999). Feeding strategy, nitrogen cycling, and profitability of dairy farms. *Journal of Dairy Science*, **82**(12), 2,841-2,855.
- Rumpler, W. V., Johnson, D. E. & Bates, D. B. (1986). The effect of high dietary cation concentration on methanogenesis by steers fed diets with and without ionophores. *Journal of Animal Science*, 62, 1,737–1,741.
- Saggar, S., Bolan, N., Bhandral, R., Hedley, C. & Luo, J. (2004). A review of emissions of methane, ammonia, and nitrous oxide from animal excreta deposition and farm effluent application in grazed pastures. *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research*, 47, 513-544.
- Sampaio, C.B., Detmann, E., Paulino, M.P., Valadares Filho, S.C., Souza, M.A., Lazzarini, I., Paulino, P.V.R. & Queiroz, A. C, (2010). Intake and digestibility in cattle fed low-quality

tropical forage and supplemented with nitrogenous compounds. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, **42**(7), 1,471-1,479.

- Sar, C., Santoso, B., Mwenya, B., Gamo, Y., Kobayashi, T., Morikawa, R., Kimura, K., Mizukoshi, H. & Takahashi, J. 2004. Manipulation of rumen methanogenesis by the combination of nitrate with ß 1-4 galacto-oligosaccharides or nisin in sheep. *Animal Feed Science and Techonology*, **115**, 129–142.
- Sarnklong, C., Cone, J., Pellikaan, W. & Hendriks, W. (2010). Utilization of rice straw and different treatments to improve its feed value for ruminants: A review. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences, 23(5), 680-692.
- Satter, L. & Slyter, L. (1974). Effect of ammonia concentration on rumen microbial protein production *in vitro*. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **32**, 199-208.
- Schofield, P., Mbugua, D. M., & Pell, A. N. (2001). Analysis of condensed tannins: a review. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 91(1), 21-40.
- Scott, R. & Hibberd, C. (1990). Incremental levels of supplemental ruminal degradable protein for beef cows fed low quality native grass hay. *Animal Science Research Report*, pp. 57-63.
- Sindhu, A., Khan, M., Nisa, M. & Sarwar, M. (2002). Agro-industrial by-products as a potential source of livestock feed. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, **4**, 307-310.
- Singh, P., Verma, A., Sahu, D. & Mehra, U. (2008). Utilization of nutrients as influenced by different restriction levels of feed intake under sub-tropical conditions in crossbred calves. *Livestock Science*, **117**, 308-314.
- Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, Z., Gwary, D., JanZen, H., Kumar, P., McCarl, B., Ogle, S., O'
 Mara, F., Rice, C., Scholes B. &Sirotenko, O. (2007). Agriculture. In climate change
 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Forth Assessment Report of
 the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate change [B. Metz, O.R. Davidson, P.R. Bosch, R.

Dave, L.A.Meyer (eds)], Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, USA.

- Sordi, A., Dieckow, J., Bayer, C., Alburquerque, M., Piva, J., Zanatta, J., Tomazi, M., da Rosa,
 C. & de Moraes, A. (2014). Nitrous oxide emission factors for urine and dung patches in
 a subtropical Brazilian pastureland. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **190**, 94103.
- Souza, M., Detmann, E., Paulino, M.F., Sampiao, C., Lazzarini, I. & Valadares, F. (2010). Intake, digestibility and rumen dynamics of neutral detergent fiber in cattle fed lowquality tropical forage and supplemented with nitrogen and/or starch. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, 42, 1299-1310.
- St-Pierre, N. R. & Thraen, C. S. (1999). Animal grouping strategies, sources of variation, and economic factors affecting nutrient balance on dairy farms. *Journal of Dairy Science* 82 (Suppl. 2), 72–83.
- Steinfeld, H., Wassenaar, T. & Jutzi, S. (2006). Livestock production systems in developing countries: status, drivers, trends. *Revue scientifique et technique*, **25**, 505-516.
- Terrill, T., Rowan, A., Douglas, G. & Barry, T. (1992). Determination of extractable and bound condensed tannin concentrations in forage plants, protein concentrates meals and cereal grains. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, **58**(3), 321-329.
- Theodoridou, K. (2010). The effects of condensed tannins in sainfoin (*Onobrychis viciifolia*) on its digestion and nutritive value. *PhD Thesis*, Université Blaise Pascal-Clermont-Ferrand II, France.
- Tiemann, T., Lascano, C., Wettstein, H., Mayer, A., Kreuzer, M. & Hess, H. (2008). Effect of the tropical tannin-rich shrub legumes *Calliandra calothyrsus* and *Flemingia*

macrophylla on methane emission and nitrogen and energy balance in growing lambs. *Animal*, **2**, 790-799.

- Toppo, S., Verma, A., Dass, R., & Mehra, U. (1997). Nutrient utilization and rumen fermentation pattern in crossbred cattle fed different planes of nutrition supplemented with urea molasses mineral block. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, **64**(2), 101-112.
- Tuwei, P., Kang'ara, J., Mueller-Harvey, I., Poole, J., Ngugi, F. & Stewart, J. (2003). Factors affecting biomass production and nutritive value of *Calliandra calothyrsus* leaf as fodder for ruminants. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, **141**, 113-127.
- Vadiveloo, J. (2003). The effect of agronomic improvement and urea treatment on the nutritional value of Malaysian rice straw varieties. *Animal Feed Scence and Technology*, **108**,33-146.
- VanderWal, P. (1976). General aspects of the effectiveness of anabolic agents in increasing protein production in farm animals, in particular bull calves. In: Anabolic Agents in Animal Production (Lu, F. C. & Rendel, J., eds), pp. 60-78, Georg Thieme, Germany.
- Van Dorland, H., Wettstein, H., Leuenberger, H. & Kreuzer, M. (2007). Effect of supplementation of fresh and ensiled clovers to ryegrass on nitrogen loss and methane emission of dairy cows. *Livestock Science*, **111**(1-2), 57-69.
- Van Nevel C. J. & Demeyer D. I. (1995). Feed additives and other interventions for decreasing methane emissions. In: Biotechnology in Animal Feeds & Animal Feeding, (Wallace R. J., Chesson A., eds.), VCH, Weinheim, Germany. Pp 329–349.
- Van Soest, P. J. (1994). Nutritional ecology of the ruminant, (2nd ed). Cornell University Press, Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Van Soest, P. J. & Robertson, J. B. (1985). Analysis of forages and fibrous feeds. In: Laboratory Manual for Animal Science 613. Cornell University, Ithaca, New York, USA, pp. 202.

- Van Soest, P.J. & Robertson, J.B. (1985). Analysis of forages and fibrous foods. AS 613Manual, Department of Animal Science, Cornell Univ., Ithaca, New York, USA.
- Verbic, J., Chen, X. B., MacLeod, N. A., & Ørskov, E. R. (1990). Excretion of purine derivatives by ruminants. Effect of microbial nucleic acid infusion on purine derivative excretion by steers. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, **114**(03), 243-248.
- Vercoe, J., Frisch, J. & Moran, J. (1972). Apparent digestibility, nitrogen utilization, water metabolism and heat tolerance of Brahman cross, Africander cross and Shorthorn x Hereford steers. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, **79**, 71-74.
- Verma, D. (1997). Animal Nutrition, (1st ed.) R. 814, New Rajinder nagar, New Delhi, India.
- Vu, D. D., Cuong, L. X., Dung, C. A. & Hai, P. H. (1999). Use of urea-molasses-multi-nutrient block and urea-treated rice straw for improving dairy cattle productivity in Vietnam; *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 38,197-193.
- Waghorn, G. (2008). Beneficial and detrimental effects of dietary condensed tannins for sustainable sheep and goat production—Progress and challenges. *Animal Feed Science* and Technology, **147**, 116-139.
- Waghorn, G. C., Tavendale, M. H. & Woodfield, D. R. (2002). Methanogenesis from forages fed to sheep. In: Proceedings of the New Zealand Society of Animal Production. Pp. 266-277.
- Wambugu, C., Place, F. & Franzel, S. (2011). Research, development and scaling-up the adoption of fodder shrub innovations in East Africa. *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability*, 9, 100-109.
- Wickersham, E. (2006). Effect of supplemental protein on nitrogen recycling in beef cattle consuming low-quality forage. *PhD Thesis*, Kansas State University, Manhattan, USA.
- Wickersham, T., Cochran, E., Titgemeyer, C., Farmer, E., Klevesahl, J., Arroquy, D. & Johnson,J. (2004). Effect of postruminal protein supply on the response to ruminal protein

supplementation in beef steers fed a low-quality grass hay. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, **115**, 19–36.

- Wickersham, T., Titgemeyer, E., Cochran, R. & Wickersham, E. (2009). Effect of undegradable intake protein supplementation on urea kinetics and microbial use of recycled urea in steers consuming low-quality forage. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **101**, 225-232.
- Wickersham, T., Titgemeyer, E., Cochran, R., Wickersham, E. & Moore, E. (2008a). Effect of frequency and amount of rumen-degradable intake protein supplementation on urea kinetics and microbial use of recycled urea in steers consuming low-quality forage. *Journal of Animal Science*, **86**, 3,089-3,099.
- Wiedmeier, R., Males, J. & Gaskins, C. (1983). Effect of dietary crude protein on the dry matter digestibility of wheat straw diets in cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, **57**, 1,568-1,575.
- Williams, Y. J., Popovski, S., Rea, S. M., Skillman, L. C., Toovey, A. F., Northwood, K. S. & Wright, A. D. (2009). A vaccine against rumen methanogens can alter the composition of archaeal populations. *Applied environmental microbiology*, **75**, 1860-1866.
- Wright, A.D., Kennedy, P., O'Neill, C.J., Toovey, A.F., Popovski, S., Rea, S.M., Pimma, C.L. & Klein, L. (2004.) Reducing methane emissions in sheep by immunization against rumen methanogens. *Vaccine*, **22**, 3976–3985.